### ABSTRACT

Title of dissertation:THEROLEOFATAXIATELANGIECTASIA MUTATED AND THECATALYTICSUBUNITOFDNA-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE DURINGADIPOGENESIS

Caroline Rocourt, Doctor of Philosophy, 2014

Dissertation directed by: Assistant Professor, Wen-Hsing Cheng, Department of Nutrition and Food Science

Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>), are DNA damage response (DDR) proteins that have well established roles in the repair of DNA double strand breaks (DSBs). A growing body of scientific evidence suggests that these kinases have important, but not yet well-understood, immune and metabolic functions. ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> can regulate cellular oxidative stress and combat reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Chen et al 2012). Since oxidative stress is a driving factor in the pathogenesis of many obesity related complications, ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> may help respond to and regulate oxidative stress in adipocytes.

Precise oxidative signaling is necessary for adipocyte differentiation and lipid accumulation. Selenium, a nutrient with suspected insulin mimetic properties, can alter cellular oxidative stress (<u>H Gandhi et al 2013</u>). Therefore, it is plausible that selenium may affect adipogenesis and change lipid accumulation patterns in cells.

The primary research questions were as follows: What is the role of ATM and DNA- $PK_{cs}$  in adipogenesis and adipocyte homeostasis? Are the actions of these kinases in adipocytes explained by changes in oxidative stress levels? Do proposed nutrients with

insulin mimetic properties, like selenium, affect adipogenesis via the suspected ATM - DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> - ROS pathway?

Time dependent mammalian cell culture based experiments that measured outcome variables like lipid accumulation, senescence activity, protein expression and ROS levels were conducted to assess the action of ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> during adipogenesis and the effect of selenium on the ATM - DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> – ROS dependent adipogenic pathway.

This study found that ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> are necessary proteins for maintaining adipocyte integrity as well as having a significant role in the differentiation of preadipocyte to adipocyte. Furthermore, we confirmed that the kinases act via a ROS dependent pathway and that dietary nutrients, such as selenium, can exert additional control over this pathway, therefore highlighting the impact adipocyte metabolism exerts over total metabolic health.

# THE ROLE OF ATAXIA TELANGIECTASIA MUTATED AND THE CATALYTIC SUBUNIT OF DNA-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE DURING ADIPOGENESIS

By

Caroline Rebecca Burnett Rocourt

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the

University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

2014

#### **Advisory Committee:**

Assistant Professor Wen-Hsing Cheng, Chair Associate Professor Brian Bequette, Dean's Representative Professor Thomas Castonguay Professor Robert Jackson Assistant Professor Zhengguo Xiao Associate Professor Liqing Yu © Copyright by

Caroline Rebecca Burnett Rocourt

2014

## DEDICATION

To my mother, Karen Rocourt and boyfriend, Stanton Salter, the most important people in my life and my biggest supporters. To my undergraduate research assistants, Chris Maino and Louis Spear; both of whom I consider collaborators and lifelong friends. To Jallah Rouse and Yongmei Qi, who started out as lab mates and became my closest and dearest friends. To my animal companions Beau the beagle, Flossie the cat, and my horse Charlotte for providing unconditional love and pet therapy.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Wen-Hsing Cheng for his guidance throughout my graduate studies. I would also like to thank Dr. Robert Jackson for his patience, support and mentorship that has helped me tremendously. I would like to thank Dr. Thomas Castonguay for his invaluable comments, suggestions and guidance with the preparation of the manuscript. I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Zhengguo Xiao, Dr. Liqing Yu and Dr. Brian Bequette for their suggestions and support. I would like to thank the Department of Nutrition and Food Science office staff, especially Nenita Harris, Rita Vinogradova and Mary Pandian for always helping me, regardless of the situation. I would like to thank my lab mates, particularly Jallah Rouse, Yongmei Qi, Ying (Holly) Yu and Christina Bohr, for their help and friendship. I would like to thank Kenneth Class, director of the flow cytometry and cell sorting core facility on campus, for his technical assistance. Finally, I would like to the two undergraduate students Louis Spear and Chris Maino for their invaluable help with lab work and preparing manuscripts.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
LIST OF FIGURES	IX
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XI
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
THE PIKK FAMILY OF DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE PROTEINS: ATM AND DNA-PK <sub>cs</sub>	3
The DNA damage response & DNA double strand breaks	3
DNA double strand breaks	4
Ataxia- telangiectasia mutated (ATM)	4
DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK)	9
Adipose Tissue and Adipocytes	10
Differentiation	10
Adipocyte function	14
Lipid droplets	16
Adipose Tissue Plasticity	18
Preadipocytes as multipotent stem cells	18
Adipose tissue remodeling	20
Hypertrophy and hyperplasia	22
METABOLIC DYSFUNCTIONS	23
Obesity	23

Type 2 diabetes	
Cellular senescence	
MECHANISMS OF METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION	
Oxidative stress	
Immune response	
LINKING METABOLIC DERANGEMENTS TO ADIPOCYTES	
Inflammation	
Insulin resistance	

### CHAPTER 2: THE KINASE ACTIVITY OF ATM AND DNA-PK<sub>CS</sub> IS CRITICAL DURING

BSTRACT
NTRODUCTION
Rationale
Significance
Hypothesis
1ethods
Cell lines and maintenance
Adipocyte differentiation 40
Lipid accumulation
Treatments
Co-culture
Oil-Red-O staining
Senescence
Coverslip preparation
Antibody detection
Quantification of antibody data
Granularity
Statistics

embryonic f
52
54
enesis 50
gulating oxid
62
62
70
74
74 74 76 76 76 76 78 78
74 74 74 76 76 76 78 78 78 78
74      74      74      74      74      74      74      74      74      76      76      76      76      76      76      76      76      76      77      76      77      78      79      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71
74      74      74      74      74      74      74      74      74      76      76      76      76      76      76      76      77      76      77      78      79      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71      71

The role of DNA damage kinases in a selenium treated adipocyte model	33
Selenium species restores lipid accumulation in cells challenged with known DNA	A stressors
	36
The role of the selenium induced DNA damage response during adipogenesis	39
DISCUSSION	02
CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	)5
SUMMATION OF OBJECTIVES	95
SIGNIFICANCE	)6
APPENDIX	)0
Cell Culture Reagents	)0
CELL CULTURE CHEMICALS AND TREATMENTS 10	)0
Experimental Reagents	)1
BIBLIOGRAPHY	)3

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: CELL CULTURE REAGENTS 102
------------------------------------

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1: TIMELINE OF ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION
FIGURE 2: LIPID ACCUMULATION IN 3T3-L1 ADIPOCYTES
FIGURE 3: CYTOKINES
FIGURE 4: ATM AND DNA-PK KINASE ACTIVITY ARE NECESSARY FOR LIPID ACCUMULATION
FIGURE 5: ATM AND DNA-PK KINASE INHIBITION HAS MAXIMAL EFFECT ON LIPID ACCUMULATION WHEN
ADDED BEFORE INDUCING ADIPOGENESIS
FIGURE 6: KNOCKOUT OF THE ATM GENE DECREASES LIPID ACCUMULATION IN MEFS
FIGURE 7: DNA-PK <sub>cs</sub> -/- MEFs show little lipid accumulation despite hormonal induction of
ADIPOGENESIS
Figure 8: DNA-PK <sub>cs</sub> -/- MEFs are larger and have smaller lipid droplets than wild type MEFs51
FIGURE 9: DNA-PK'S ROLE IN ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION IS INDEPENDENT FROM ITS FUNCTION IN THE
NON-HOMOLOGOUS END-JOINING PATHWAY
FIGURE 10: ATM AND DNA-PK INHIBITION DECREASES PERILIPIN CONCENTRATION
FIGURE 11: THE EFFECT OF OXIDATIVE STRESS ON LIPID ACCUMULATION IN 3T3-L1 CELLS
FIGURE 12: THE EFFECT OF OXIDATIVE STRESS ON LIPID ACCUMULATION IN MEFS
FIGURE 13: ATM AND DNA-PK INFLUENCE LIPID DROPLET FORMATION VIA A ROS DEPENDENT PATHWAY60
FIGURE 14: BOTH ANTIOXIDANT AND PROOXIDANT TREATMENT CAUSES DNA-PKcs -/- MEFs to increase
LIPID ACCUMULATION61
FIGURE 15: DNA DAMAGE IN ADIPOCYTES
FIGURE 16: ATM AND DNA-PK KINASE INHIBITION CAUSES A SENESCENT-LIKE PHENOTYPE
FIGURE 17: ATM AND DNA-PK INHIBITION CAUSE PREADIPOCYTE SENESCENCE
FIGURE 18: SENESCENT PREADIPOCYTES ALTER PHENOTYPE OF ADIPOCYTES IN CO-CULTURE MODEL
FIGURE 19: SODIUM SELENITE TREATMENT DECREASES LIPID ACCUMULATION WHEN ADDED AT THE START
OF ADIPOGENESIS

FIGURE 20: METHYLSELENINIC ACID PROMOTES LIPID ACCUMULATION THROUGHOUT ADIPOGENESIS
FIGURE 21: SODIUM SELENITE FURTHER DECREASES LIPID ACCUMULATION IN ATM INHIBITED CELLS
FIGURE 22: SODIUM SELENITE SLIGHTLY REDUCES LIPID ACCUMULATION IN DNA-PK INHIBITED CELLS85
FIGURE 23: METHYLSELENINIC ACID, BUT NOT SODIUM SELENITE, RESTORES LIPID ACCUMULATION IN
PARAQUAT TREATED CELLS
FIGURE 24: SELENIUM REVERSES THE EFFECT OF HYDROXYUREA ON ADIPOGENESIS
FIGURE 25: SELENIUM TREATMENT IS A POTENT ACTIVATOR OF THE ATM KINASE DURING ADIPOGENESIS90
Figure 26: Selenium induced phosphorylation of DNA-PK $_{\rm CS}$ at Thr-2647 is downstream of ATM
KINASE91
FIGURE 27: CONCEPTUAL MODEL

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A-T	ataxia- telangiectasia
ATM	ataxia- telangiectasia mutated
BMI	body mass index
BSA	bovine serum albumin
C/EBPa	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein $\alpha$
<b>CM-H2DCFDA</b>	5-(and-6)-chloromethyl-2', 7'-
Ċ	lichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, acetyl ester
DAPI	4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
Dex	dexamethasone
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
<b>DNA-PK</b> <sub>cs</sub>	the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase
DSBs	double-strand breaks
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FSC	forward scatter
GLUT1	glucose transporter 1
GLUT4	glucose transporter 4
GPX1	glutathione peroxidase-1
H2O2	hydrogen peroxide
HU	hydroxyurea
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IgE	immunoglobin E
IL-1	interleukin 1
IL-6	interleukin 6
iNOS	inducible nitric acid synthase
КОН	potassium hydroxide
MDI	adipogenic induction media
MEFs	mouse embryonic fibroblasts
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MSeA	methylseleninic acid
Na <sub>2</sub> SeO <sub>3</sub>	sodium selenite
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NHANES	U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys
NHEJ	non-homologous end-joining pathway
ORO	oil-red-o

<i>p</i> ATM Ser-1981	phospho-ATM at Ser-1981
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
pDNA-PK <sub>cs</sub> Thr-	phospho-DNA-PK <sub>cs</sub> at Thr-2647
2647	
<b>PI(3)K</b>	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PIKK	PI(3)K- like protein kinase
PP1	protein phosphatase 1
ΡΡΑRγ	peroxide peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
ga	mma
RDA	recommended daily allowance
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT	room temperature
S.E.M.	standard error of the mean
SA-β-gal	senescence-associated -β-galactosidase
Sec	selenocysteine
SECIS	selenocysteine insertion sequences
SSC	side scatter
TEMPO	2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl
TG	triglyceride
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor a
TZD	thiazolidinediones
USF-1	upstream stimulatory factor 1
WT	wild type
γΗ2Α.Χ	phospho-histone2A.X at Ser-139

## INTRODUCTION

Obesity has become a global health concern, significantly affecting populations in the United States and other westernized countries (James et al 2001, Malik et al 2013, Ogden et al 2006, Popkin and Doak 1998, Seidell 2000). Obesity is not only a burden financially, emotionally, and socially, but it also predisposes individuals to a range of health problems, such as type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease and hypertension, which are comorbidities frequently associated with obesity (Kelly et al 2008, Kress et al 2005, Must et al 1999, Thompson and Wolf 2001, Wang and Dietz 2002). The molecular mechanisms that explain how obesity is a causative agent in many disease states remain largely unclear. However, it is known that adipose tissue becomes dysfunctional with increasing adiposity (Guilherme et al 2008) and it is evident that the adipocyte unit itself is an indicator of metabolic health. Thus, the key to understanding obesity-associated metabolic diseases lies in the study of adipose tissue and adipocytes (Efrat et al 2013, Moest et al 2013).

We chose to conduct experiments to help elucidate adipose tissue dysfunction by studying the role of the PI(3)K serine/threonine kinases, ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>) during adipogenesis. We hope our research helps to highlight the importance of oxidative tone as a likely causative agent in the comorbidities associated with obesity.

The following explains how this dissertation is organized. Chapter 1 consists of a literature review that explains in detail the ATM and DNA-PK kinases, their role in the DNA damage response and provides ample evidence to support our hypothesis of their involvement in adipogenesis. An overview of adipose tissue biology, the differentiation process, the function of mature adipocytes and a close-up look at adipocyte physiology that focuses on lipid droplets & adipocyte remodeling is also included in the Chapter 1. The literature review concludes with an in depth explanation of metabolic dysfunctions and a summary on how the origins of dysfunctions stem from disturbances in adipose tissue dysfunction.

Chapter 2 and 3 are prepared in the style of a manuscript for publication. Chapter 2 is an inquiry into the role of ATM and DNA-PK during adipogenesis. Chapter 3 builds on the critical interpretations and conclusions from Chapter 2 by using selenium to disturb the ROS-ATM-DNA-PK pathway. Chapter 4 advances a summary of the research and discusses the conclusions of the dissertation. The last sections are the appendix followed by the bibliography.

### CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

## The PIKK Family of DNA Damage Response Proteins: ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>

#### The DNA damage response & DNA double strand breaks

Mammalian cells have evolutionary conserved DNA damage response pathways that serve to relay, amplify and translate the DNA damage signal and to coordinate cell cycle arrest and subsequent DNA repair (Zhou and Elledge 2000). The DNA damage response pathway is orchestrated by members of the PI(3)K- like protein kinases (PIKKs) family of proteins, which are recruited to the sites of DNA damage. DNA damage is a causative agent in many disease states, such as cancer (Martin et al 2011). Persistent DNA damage is thought to be an underlying mechanism in aging and age-related diseases (Karanjawala and Lieber 2004, Schumacher et al 2008).

Furthermore, there are many diseases, both inherited and lifestyle attributable, which are associated with DNA damage and/or defective DNA repair (For a review, please see ref. (O'Driscoll 2012)). In most cases, DNA damage is caused by ROS, which can originate from both exogenous and endogenous sources (Sirbu and Cortez 2013). An example of ROS originating from an exogenous source is the ROS generated via ionizing radiation (Leach et al 2001). The byproducts of oxidative phosphorylation are an endogenous example of ROS production (Droge 2002).

#### DNA double strand breaks

DNA double strand breaks (DSBs), a particularly harmful type of DNA lesion (Lees-Miller et al 1990), can be created after DNA damage, but also can be a consequence of replication failure (Pardo et al 2009). The proper repair of DSBs is critical for genomic stability in order to prevent cancer and delay aging. Following the creation of a DSB, the PIKK family members ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> are activated then initiate the DNA damage response. These proteins recognize the DNA lesions and initiate downstream processes that relay and amplify the damage signal (Shrivastav et al 2009). After appropriate signaling and amplification, effector proteins are activated, which modulate the cell cycle, reconstruct chromatin and control DNA repair (Khanna and Jackson 2001). For detailed reviews on the DNA damage response and DSB repair, please see refs. (Lees-Miller and Meek 2003, Sirbu and Cortez 2013, Vignard et al 2013).

#### Ataxia- telangiectasia mutated (ATM)

The *Atm* gene is responsible for encoding ATM protein kinase, whose best-known function is as the main activator of the DNA damage response following the formation of DNA DSBs (Shiloh and Ziv 2013). The ATM protein is primarily found in the nucleus and is necessary for a proper DNA damage response (Lavin 2008). Recently, ATM was shown to be activated by oxidative stress without the presence of DNA DSBs (Ditch and Paull 2012, Guo et al 2010a, Guo et al 2010b). ATM is likely to have a role in regulating oxidative stress independent of, and in addition to, its role in DNA DSB repair. The role of ATM has been further expanded after research shows that it has a critical role in immune function (Huang et al 2013, Landoure et al 2013).

Mutations in ATM cause the disease ataxia- telangiectasia (A-T), which is a premature aging syndrome characterized by ataxia and ocular telangiectasia (Huang, et al. 2013). Interestingly, more than 500 mutations are known to cause the disease, with the severity of the disease depending on the location and type of mutation. Approximately 75% of *Atm* mutations are frameshifts or nonsense mutations (Concannon and Gatti 1997, Wright et al 1996), which truncate the entire protein. Other mutations, such as missense mutations or errors in splicing, can result in genomic duplication or deletion.

There is emerging evidence that strongly supports a role of ATM in metabolism outside of its role in the DNA damage response (Shiloh and Ziv 2013, Stagni et al 2013, Stracker et al 2013). Although the DNA damage response function of ATM is carried out in the nucleus, there is a considerable concentration of cytoplasmic ATM that are capable of binding proteins involved in cellular transport (Alexander and Walker 2010, Boehrs et al 2007, Lim et al 1998, Rotman and Shiloh 1999). In addition to their neurological symptoms, A-T patients also have higher incidences of developing type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance (Bar et al 1978), adipocyte lipotoxicity, mitochondrial dysfunction and also have increased systemic oxidative stress (Blevins and Gebhart 1996, Ersoy et al 1991, Lavin and Shiloh 1997, Morrell et al 1986, Schalch et al 1970). Many growth abnormalities and problems with cellular homeostasis in A-T patients cannot be explained by defective DNA damage repair alone. Most A-T patients do not have diabetes, but this may be because they do not live long enough to develop the disease. In one study, 10 out of 17 A-T patients developed type 2 diabetes (Morrell, et al. 1986).

ATM is insulin responsive (<u>Ching et al 2013</u>, <u>Yang and Kastan 2000</u>); and its kinase activity is responsible for the insulin stimulated phosphorylation of Akt/Protein Kinase B (a key insulin signaling protein intermediate) at serine 473 after insulin treatment (<u>Halaby et al 2008</u>). Furthermore, a downstream target of ATM, p53, is involved in several stress signaling pathways that can influence metabolic and glucose homeostasis (<u>Armata et al 2010</u>). For example, one of the well-characterized masters of cellular metabolism the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is inhibited by p53 activation (For a review of p53 & metabolic regulation please see refs. (<u>Armata, et al. 2010</u>, <u>Berkers et al 2013</u>)).

Glucose transport into cells is often impaired in people with type 2 diabetes and causes reduced glucose clearance, leading to hyperglycemia. ATM plays a role in glucose transport in cultured cells; ATM mutant myoblasts display decreased glucose transport. Glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1)(Andrisse et al 2013) is responsible for the physiologically relevant portion of basal glucose transport, contains a phosphorylation site specific for the ATM kinase. Phosphorylation of Serine 490 of GLUT1 is critical for GLUT1-mediated glucose uptake. Specifically, ATM kinase chemical inhibition diminishes basal glucose transport and that ATM kinase activity is necessary to phosphorylate Serine 490, which when taken together, suggests that ATM is needed for GLUT1 cell surface localization and subsequent glucose uptake. Furthermore, the chemical inhibition of ATM decreases the rate at which it is recycled to the cell surface, suggesting that GLUT1 is in fact an *in vivo* ATM substrate. Interestingly, ROS formation can down regulate glucose transporter expression and promote insulin resistance in mature adipocytes (Kozlovsky et al 1997, Rudich et al 1997), which could be explained by changes in ATM kinase activity.

The GoDarts study in 2011 found that individual variation in the *Atm* gene was shown to alter the glycemic response to the common diabetic drug metformin (GoDarts et al 2011). Specifically, those with the single nucleotide polymorphism rs11212617, at a locus containing the *Atm* gene, had better treatment success with metformin. Furthermore, the group provided mechanistic evidence to suggest the possible mechanistic underpinnings of their observations. Firstly, they chose to study AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), because it is the pharmacological target of the insulin sensitizing drug metformin. Although the exact mechanism is unclear, metformin does activate AMPK by inhibiting the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Zhou et al 2001). Inhibiting the mitochondrial respiratory chain increases cellular AMP, which is widely considered to be the mechanism responsible for metformin's insulin sensitizing benefits.

The GoDarts researchers treated rat H4IIE hepatoma cells with the selective ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 and found that the activation of AMPK by metformin was significantly reduced. To confirm further their genome wide association study data, they studied the activation of the well-characterized marker of AMPK activation, Serine 79 of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase. Western blot analysis showed that after KU 55933 treatment, phosphorylation of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase was significantly decreased.

Due to the novelty of the GoDarts study, three separate research groups responded to the original article. Woods and her colleagues provided data that showed that when cells were treated with other ATM chemical inhibitors, such as caffeine, that there was no decrease in metformin induced AMPK activation, suggesting that KU 55933 reduces AMPK activity independent of inhibiting ATM kinase (Woods et al 2012). Another group suggests that the GoDarts data can be reinterpreted and that the inhibitor KU 55933 reduces cellular uptake of metformin by reducing organic cation transporter 1, which is necessary for metformin uptake in cells (<u>Yee et al 2012</u>).

Furthermore, the same researchers argue that the structure of KU 55933 makes it likely an inhibitor of organic cation transporter 1, which offers another plausible explanation of the cell culture data from the GoDarts study. We also can point out alternate hypothesis based on the findings of the genome wide association data. Since ATM is involved in GLUT4 translocation (Halaby, et al. 2008), and metformin increases fatty acid oxidation and GLUT4 phosphorylation (Collier et al 2006), perhaps the association between the particular locus and the varying responses to metformin can be explained by the necessity of the ATM kinase in GLUT4 phosphorylation.

The authors of the original publication responded to their critics by defending their rationale for choosing ATM as the likely gene candidate at that locus (Zhou et al 2012). They further cited the human, mouse and cell studies that indicated ATM is likely involved in insulin signaling and glucose metabolism. They also state the interpretation of their cell culture data cannot be used to assert that ATM is the casual gene with absolute certainty. However, none of the data from the groups responding to the article provides evidence to 1) exclude ATM as the candidate gene or 2) support that other genes at the locus are in fact the causal genes. The GoDarts study and the corresponding letters to the editor emphasize that genome wide association studies are powerful tools, but highlight the necessity of testing all possible gene candidates with equal rigor and without prejudice.

Despite conflicting data relating ATM to a role in metabolic function, we believe that ATM has a regulatory role in lipid accumulation and we conducted experiments to determine the contribution of ATM to metabolic processes associated with adipogenesis and lipid droplet formation.

#### DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK)

Recently, new roles for DNA-PK have been proposed (<u>Chen, et al. 2012</u>, <u>Kong et al</u> 2011, <u>Lin et al 2013</u>, <u>Wong and Sul 2009</u>) that expand beyond its well characterized role in repairing DNA DSBs via the non-homologous end-joining pathway (NHEJ) (<u>Burma et al 2006</u>, <u>Taleei and Nikjoo 2013</u>). We have found DNA-PK is a necessary intermediate in the senescence response following selenium exposure (<u>Rocourt et al 2012</u>, <u>Wu et al</u> 2010) and others have shown that DNA-PK is activated during hypoxia (<u>Bouquet et al</u> 2011), which is a common phenomenon associated with obesity (<u>Trayhurn 2013</u>, <u>L Zhang et al 2011</u>).

The Sul lab has demonstrated a relationship between DNA-PK and insulin signaling (Wong et al 2009). Specifically, they found that after activation of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) by insulin, PP1 then dephosphorylates DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>, which activates DNA-PK kinase function. Activated DNA-PK then phosphorylates upstream stimulatory factor 1 (USF-1) at Serine 262. USF-1 is a transcription factor that controls genes related to lipogenesis, such as fatty acid synthase which converts glucose to fatty acids. The group determined that *de novo* lipogenesis and activation of lipogenic genes are decreased in a DNA-PK deficient severe combined immune deficienty mouse model. Furthermore, the DNA-PK deficient severe combined immune deficient mice also have lower plasma lipids and adiposity than the control mice. Taken together, this model suggests that overfeeding induces insulin release, which then can activate PP1. PP1 can then target DNA-PK and

activate it by phosphorylation. Once activated, DNA-PK can regulate genes for lipolysis and lipogenesis to change the way the body stores and uses fat.

#### **Adipose Tissue and Adipocytes**

#### **Differentiation**

Adipocytes and their precursors (preadipocytes) are renewed in the body in a tightly controlled fashion. In adults with a healthy body mass index (BMI), the number of total adipocytes remains constant throughout life (Boroumand et al 1980, Roche 1981). In order for a preadipocyte to become a mature adipocyte, exposure to a well-characterized and highly ordered sequence of hormones that promote lipid accumulation is required. Adipose tissue is predominantly composed of mature adipocytes. However, there are other cell types present in adipose tissue that are necessary for its proper function such as preadipocytes, connective tissue cells, and immune cells.

Insulin, glucocorticoids and phosphodiesterase inhibitors activate receptor mediated signaling cascades that are involved in adipogenesis whereby transcriptional regulation changes preadipocytes into adipocytes. After hormonal stimulation of the preadipocyte, transcription factors that regulate transcription of adipocyte specific genes, such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein  $\alpha$  (C/EBP $\alpha$ ), coordinate cell proliferation, inflammatory responses and regulate insulin sensitivity (Choy and Derynck 2003, Kliewer et al 1995, Siersbaek et al 2010). There is an equally impressive body of studies that identify agents that inhibit adipogenesis such as the cytokines interleukin 1 (IL-1) and TNF- $\alpha$ , cell surface proteins, and various intracellular pathways that involve mitogen activated protein kinases (Sul et al

<u>1998</u>). Thus, the induction and inhibition of adipogenesis from preadipocyte to adipocyte is subject to tight regulation. The replacement of aged and damaged adipocytes is also tightly regulated, and these functions must remain in balance in order to supply energy demand and maintain homeostasis (<u>Iyer et al 2010</u>).

Day -4

Day -2

Day 0

Day 2

Day

 $3 \sim 12$ 

Day

12~15

# **Plate Fibroblasts**

Culture fibroblasts in DMEM with 10% FBS and split as necessary.

# 100% Confluency

Growth arrest is a critical step before adipogenesis. Cells are now committed to the adipocyte linage: will eventually accumulate lipid droplets despite hormonal induction, albeit at a slower rate.

# Hormonal Induction

Proadipogenic cocktail of 166 nM insulin dissolved in 0.02 M HCl, 0.5 mM 3-isobutyl-1-methyl-xanthine (IBMX) dissolved in 0.5N KOH, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone (Dex) dissolved in ethanol and added to 10% FBS DMEM.

# Refresh Hormonal Cocktail

The hormonal regimen causes an additional 1-2 rounds of cell division, termed clonal expansion, after which necessary proadipogenic transcription factors are activated.

# Insulin Maintenance

Cells are switched to insulin media (166 nM insulin in 10% FBS DMEM). They are still undergoing changes that will lead to the fully differentiated phenotype of a mature adipocyte that happens after 8-12 days after hormonal stimulation.

```
Cells Used in Experiments
```

Figure 1: Timeline of Adipocyte Differentiation

One of the most commonly used cellular models to study adipogenesis are murine 3T3-L1 cells. 3T3-L1 cells are considered fibroblasts until 2 days after they have reached 100% confluency. At this point, the cells are exposed to a hormonal cocktail of insulin, dexamethasone (Dex), and isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX) in media supplemented with fetal bovine serum (FBS) to stimulate differentiation (Kuri-Harcuch and Castro-Munozledo 1984). *In vitro*, the hormonal regimen causes the cells to undergo an additional 1-2 rounds of cell division, termed clonal expansion, after which key transcription factors such as PPAR $\gamma$  and C/EBP $\alpha$  are activated (Brun et al 1996). These two transcription factors then interact with cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors and co-activators, such as the p160 family proteins and CBP/p300. The proteins then assist with transactivation and promote adipogenesis (Rosen and MacDougald 2006). Often times, the co-activators possess chromatin-remodeling ability, such as histone acetyltransferase activity.

The full understanding of the induction of the transcription factors is unclear; however, after up-regulation of these genes, preadipocytes undergo a final permanent growth arrest and are now committed to the adipocyte lineage. From this point, the cells are referred to adipocytes, although they are still undergoing changes that will lead to the fully differentiated phenotype of a mature adipocyte. This will happen as soon as 10 days after hormonal stimulation. Once differentiated, mature adipocytes are terminally differentiated and thought to be incapable of cell division (Findeisen et al 2011, Hallenborg et al 2012, Rosen and MacDougald 2006, Tang et al 2003).

#### Adipocyte function

A primary function of adipocytes, with an approximate lifespan of 10 years, is to serve as reservoir of energy in the form of triacylglycerol and to supply non-esterified fatty acids to the body as needed. Adipose tissue plays a role in cushioning and protecting our internal organs as well. Brown adipose tissue is present mainly in infants and hibernating mammals and functions to generate body heat (Cannon and Nedergaard 2004), unlike white adipose tissue, which is non-thermogenic. In humans, it is difficult to detect depots of brown fat past 1-2 years of age (Knittle et al 1979, McDonald and Horwitz 1999). Furthermore, brown adipose tissue has little to do with the development of excess body fat in adults. Therefore, only white adipose tissue is associated with the accumulation of excess body fat, and thus the focus of our research.

In the 1980s, the incorrect assumption was made that adipocytes were merely depots in which to store fat. It is now known adipose tissue is highly complex, immune regulating, metabolically active organ that is necessary to sustain life (Trayhurn and Beattie 2001). We need adipocytes to produce hormones such as resistin, estrogen, leptin, adiponectin, interleukin 6 (IL-6), estradiol, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  among others (Beltowski 2003, Trayhurn 2001, Trayhurn and Wood 2004).

Ideally, adipocytes are performing their function correctly which is storing (lipogenesis) and releasing fat (lipolysis) as necessary to meet the demands of the individual, while remaining constant in size (Arner et al 2011). The pathways regulating lipolysis and lipogenesis depend heavily on genetic and environmental factors (Brasaemle 2007). Lipoprotein lipase, located on the endothelial surface of adipocytes, is a triglyceride hydrolase. Lipoproteins in circulation give up their free fatty acids to adipocytes after

hydrolyzation by lipoprotein lipase. The free fatty acids (FFAs) are reassembled into triglycerides (TG) in the adipocyte by esterifying the FFAs onto a glycerol molecule. Feeding and fasting conditions determine how fast adipocytes will uptake lipids. When newly recruited adipocytes are in the presence of excess feeding, they grow at a higher rate than adipocytes exposed to normal conditions. Therefore, under high energy conditions, newly formed adipocytes can reach their threshold sooner, possibly contributing to some types of metabolic dysfunction (Wellen and Hotamisligil 2003).

Adipocytes are highly dynamic and constantly shuttle lipids between various adipose tissue depots throughout the body (Casteilla et al 2005). The process of how adipose tissue uptakes lipids and redistributes them throughout the body in times of need is not fully understood, however their function is critical in maintaining energy homeostasis and whole body insulin sensitivity. Unfortunately, this process is difficult to study because adipocytes are highly dynamic, constantly redistributing TG as well as regenerating and recycling their own adipocyte pool (Spalding et al 2008). A major component of the mobilization of FFAs from adipose TG stores are the enzymes adipose tissue triacylglycerol lipase and hormone sensitive lipase that account for most of the hydrolase activity in adipose tissue (Brasaemle 2007). Specifically, these enzymes hydrolyze TGs to produce FFAs and glycerol that are released from the adipocyte to meet the metabolic demands of the individual (Reshef et al 2003).

Adipocytes can fluctuate in size and vary in metabolism over their lifespan (<u>YH Lee</u> <u>et al 2013</u>) depending on a wide variety of factors such as; age, feeding status, growth cycle, cytokines production, gender and nutritional status (<u>Berthiaume et al 2004</u>, <u>Bourlier</u> <u>et al 2008</u>, <u>de Souza et al 2001</u>, <u>Pang et al 2008</u>, <u>Saillan-Barreau et al 2003</u>, <u>Strissel et al</u> <u>2007</u>, <u>Suga et al 2009</u>, <u>Wilson-Fritch et al 2004</u>). Hormone levels play a large role in the regulation of adipocyte size (<u>Carmean et al 2013</u>, <u>Havel 2004</u>). For example, glucocorticoids such as 11-beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 promote fat deposition (<u>MJ Lee et al 2013</u>), while other hormones, like adiponectin can, confer insulin sensitivity and lower FFAs and TGs (Berg et al 2002).

#### Lipid droplets

Lipid droplets are cellular lipid storage organelles that are the preferred reservoir of TG storage (Walther and Farese 2012). Because lipid droplets are central to energy homeostasis, their function and structure have been elucidated as critical factors in the development of metabolic disease (Konige et al 2013). Lipid droplets confer protection and provide a high degree of organization for TG storage (Paar et al 2012). Lipids that accumulate extracellularly or ectopically are often associated with lipid metabolism dysfunction (Mlinar and Marc 2011, Previs et al 2013). In white adipose tissue, lipid droplets begin small and then coalesce into a fewer larger droplets over time (Z Sun et al 2013). In fact, most mature adipocytes have only a single lipid droplet that occupies around 90 percent of its volume (Fujimoto and Parton 2011). Lipid droplets found in other tissues are usually less than 1  $\mu$ m in diameter. In tissues affected by metabolic disturbances, such as the liver during hepatic steatosis, the size of a lipid droplet can be up to 10  $\mu$ m (Reue 2011). To see a representative photo of a differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocyte, refer to Figure 2: Lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.



## Figure 2: Lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Example of 3T3-L1 adipocytes, differentiated as indicated above, viewed under a light microscope at 400x. Round droplets inside cells are triglycerides. Note that not all fibroblast are able to differentiate into adipocytes, as evidenced by their fibroblasts like shape and lack of lipid accumulation.

Individual lipid droplets are covered in proteins that serve metabolic and structural functions (Smith and Ordovas 2012). The proteins provide lipid droplets with their only form of mobility within the cell. The first lipid droplet associated proteins that were identified were perilipins (Greenberg et al 1991), and they serve to help store and release of TG from the lipid droplets (Brasaemle 2007, Granneman et al 2011, Tai and Ordovas 2007, Xu et al 2006). Phosphorylation of perilipins is essential for hormone sensitive lipase translocation to the surface lipid droplet, which is a key factor in stimulating lipolysis (Londos et al 2005). Perilipin under- or over- expression has the potential to promote lipid storage disorders and metabolic disturbances, such as lipodystrophy (Wang et al 2011).

Other proteins associated with lipid droplets are various enzymes involved in triacylglycerol and phospholipid biosynthesis (Brasaemle 2007, Konige, et al. 2013). Such example are: acyl-CoA diacylglycerol acyltransferases, which catalyze the formation of TG from diacylglycerol and acyl CoA; acyl-CoA synthetase enzymes, which are required for fatty acid catabolism & remodeling of membranes; and phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase, which is the rate controlling enzyme in the phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis pathway during de novo lipid synthesis.

### **Adipose Tissue Plasticity**

#### Preadipocytes as multipotent stem cells

Adipocytes are metabolically and phenotypically distinct from preadipocytes (<u>Sorisky</u> <u>1999</u>). Mature adipocytes are terminally differentiated, express lipogenic genes, have extensive lipid accumulation and respond to hormonal signals such as insulin (<u>Hauner et al 1987</u>, <u>Shimizu et al 1986</u>, <u>Wiederer and Loffler 1987</u>). Preadipocytes are sensitive to

their environment and have key roles in adipose tissue maintenance, beyond their role in serving as adipocyte precursors (Meijer et al 2011). Preadipocytes are multipotent and have the potential, given the right hormonal signaling, to become osteoblasts, endothelial cells, myoblasts, chondrocytes and several other cell types (Miranville et al 2004, Zuk 2001, Zuk et al 2002). The number of preadipocytes that are able to differentiate successfully into mature adipocytes is dependent on the BMI of the individual and the size of the adipocyte (Sorisky et al 2013). The larger the BMI and size of the adipocyte, the less likely preadipocytes are to differentiate (Kelly, et al. 2008).

Proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, transforming growth factor and interferon- $\gamma$  can inhibit preadipocyte differentiation; however, the precise mechanisms of how they affect adipocyte differentiation remains unclear (Tchkonia et al 2010). Beyond being immature adipocytes, preadipocytes have important immune modulating functions (Cousin et al 1999, Isakson et al 2009, Sorisky, et al. 2013). For example, plasma IL-6, a cytokine associated with aging, is produced by preadipocytes (Mohamed-Ali et al 1997). Furthermore, preadipocytes express known immune cell markers CD11 and CD68, which are associated with an inflammatory response (Trayhurn and Wood 2004, Zeyda and Stulnig 2007).

Preadipocytes can behave similarly to macrophages and have analogous functions, such as making chemokines and engulfing bacteria (Tchkonia, et al. 2010). Preadipocytes from obese individuals do not behave like typical adipocyte precursors when co-cultured with TNF- $\alpha$ , but instead express a proinflammatory macrophage-like phenotype (Isakson, et al. 2009). Due to the macrophage-like state of preadipocytes from obese individuals, and that macrophages accumulate in the adipose tissue of obese individuals (Weisberg et

<u>al 2003</u>), it is probable that many adipose precursor cells are be unable to undergo adipogenesis. This could cause decreased lipid accumulation capacity, thus setting the foundation for lipid storage diseases and promoting adipocyte tissue dysfunction (<u>Moest</u>, <u>et al. 2013</u>).

#### Adipose tissue remodeling

Adipose tissue remodeling is a hot topic for obesity researchers, but research has generated more questions than answers (Arner, et al. 2011). A better understanding exists for the mechanisms causing adipocyte differentiation than the mechanisms responsible for maintaining adipocytes throughout their lifespan (Erener et al 2012, Hallenborg, et al. 2012, Hou et al 2012, Tchkonia et al 2007). It is estimated that around 10% of all adipocytes in adults are replaced every year, independent of the individual's age and BMI (Spalding, et al. 2008). It has yet to be determined if adipocyte size is related to the age of the adipocyte (Faust et al 1978, Obst et al 1981).

Adipocytes, like other terminally differentiated cells, are comparatively long-lived and more resistant to cell death (<u>Strissel, et al. 2007</u>). However, during obesity there is an increase in adipocyte necrosis, death and senescence which is associated with an increase in macrophage and immune cell infiltration (<u>Lafontan 2013</u>). The necrotic tissue is characterized by the formation of macrophage syncytia and the increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines (<u>Cinti et al 2005</u>). Adipocytes have an upper size limit and cannot continue to increase their size indefinitely under positive energy balance. Large adipocytes that are incapable of storing more fat are fragile and undergo cell death or necrosis (<u>Monteiro et al 2006</u>). Large adipocytes can be metabolically distinct from small adipocytes (Jo et al 2009, <u>Skurk et al 2007</u>). It is unclear, and somewhat controversial, if size offers any advantage especially given the metabolic differences and functions of various adipose depots (subcutaneous fat vs. visceral fat or white adipose tissue vs. brown adipose tissue). Obese individuals that remain insulin sensitive have smaller adipocytes and less macrophages in their adipose tissue, particularly in their subcutaneous depot, than compared to obese individuals who are insulin resistant controls, (Molgat et al 2011). Thus, the dynamics regulating adipocyte cells involves several organs and body systems (LK Meyer et al 2013).

In the case of overfeeding, it is possible that preadipocytes do not or cannot normally replicate, especially since the cellular dynamics controlling differentiation are adipose depot dependent. For example, visceral and subcutaneous adipose depots have different differentiation responses to the similar environmental stimuli (Tchoukalova et al 2010). If the preadipocyte pool only undergoes partial adipogenesis, it will resulting in a non-functional, immature adipocytes that are likely to increase local and systemic inflammation.

Under fasting conditions, fat can be mobilized for fuel by lipolysis. During lipolysis, the stored TG in the adipocyte is hydrolyzes and it causes the adipocyte to shrink. Conversely, during times of excess, adipose tissue can expand by storing more TG. There are physical limitations to storing TG in adipocytes. When adipocytes are forced to replicate due to extreme conditions, they do so with many errors, giving rise to malfunctioning adipocytes or promote ectopic lipid accumulation (Girousse and Langin 2012), which perpetuate the cycle of inflammation and insulin resistance (Yang et al 2012).
#### Hypertrophy and hyperplasia

The expansion of adipose tissue can be due to hypertrophy, an increase in the adipocyte size, hyperplasia, an increase in adipocyte number, or both (Jo, et al. 2009). Factors affecting hyperplasia and/or hypertrophy are the individual's genes, age, gender, environment, total body fat percentage, nutritional status (total calories vs. macronutrient breakdown) and the adipose depot origin (subcutaneous, visceral etc.) among others. It is likely that hypertrophic and hyperplastic cells exist together in dysfunctional adipose tissue, and both create conditions that favor the propagation of the other. If this is the case, hypertrophic and hyperplastic adipocytes contribute to the toxic cellular environment that is present in many diseases associated with obesity.

Hyperplasia occurs when adipocytes are unable to take up any more TG, inducing the creation of new adipocytes from adipose cell precursors in the mesenchymal stem cell pool. It is thought hypertrophic adipocytes are inefficient for storing or releasing energy, which creates an environment that promotes hyperplasia. Therefore, hypertrophy affects not only the enlarged cells themselves, but create a toxic environment and promote dysfunction in neighboring cells (Sun et al 2012).

During obesity, the rate of lipolysis is proportional to the adipocyte's size, with larger adipocytes having increased rates of lipolysis (Wueest et al 2009). The size of the adipocyte may correlated with the extent of insulin resistance and other pathologies associated with obesity. Hypertrophic adipocytes are thought to secrete proinflammatory factors, which could explain why hypertrophic adipocytes are associated with a risk of type 2 diabetes (Yang, et al. 2012). Neither hypertrophy nor hyperplasia are ideal (Hanamoto et al 2013, Jo, et al. 2009), and further research is needed to elucidate how adipocytes

maintain equilibrium and to determine if adipose expansion causes or contributes to adipocyte dysfunction. However, there are obvious difficulties with gathering this data because real time monitoring of individual adipocytes for a sufficient amount of time *in vivo* is not feasible at this point (Day 1999).

#### **Metabolic Dysfunctions**

#### <u>Obesity</u>

Obesity can be simply defined as a BMI greater than 30 kilograms/meters squared. Because of the complex and highly regulated signaling pathways within the body that control metabolism, obesity is highly resistant to treatment (Ahima 2006, Fonseca-Alaniz et al 2007, Galic et al 2010, Mohamed-Ali et al 1998). Usually obesity results from an overabundance of white adipose tissue (WAT). The overabundance of WAT can stem either from an increased number of adipocytes storing fat or from larger adipocytes that continue to store more fat (Spalding, et al. 2008). Obese individuals usually have an increased risk of chronic disease, however not all of the risk can be attributed to an increase in WAT (Ahima and Lazar 2013). Obesity is a causative agent in various metabolic syndromes, in part due to the increased oxidative stress burden (Berkemeyer 2010). Oxidative stress is known to promote inflammation and vice versa (Bondia-Pons et al 2012, Fernandez-Sanchez et al 2011), but it was unknown until recently that fat accumulation is correlated with systemic oxidative stress in humans (Furukawa et al 2004). Regardless of the origins underlying the inflammatory state, infiltration by macrophages and other immune cells further burden adipose tissue promoting insulin resistance (Calabro and Yeh 2007, Siklova-Vitkova et al 2012, Zeyda and Stulnig 2007, Zhang and Huang 2012).

During obesity, adipocytes can become dysfunctional. These hallmarks of adipocyte dysfunction are increased lipolysis, abnormal cytokine secretion, increased insulin resistance and impairments in triglyceride storage (Guilherme, et al. 2008, Hotamisligil et al 1995, Weisberg, et al. 2003). Furthermore, dysfunctional adipose tissue will attract macrophages and promote an inflammatory state (O'Rourke et al 2012, Trayhurn and Wood 2004). Obese individuals with high levels of FFAs may undergo extreme lipogenesis in attempts to store the FFAs (McGarry and Dobbins 1999). However, this will disturb homeostasis, encourage lipodystrophy and cause adipocyte dysfunction (Arner, et al. 2011).

Dysfunctions in lipogenesis and lipolysis can promote various lipodystrophies (Vigouroux et al 2011) and greatly increase the risk of lipotoxicity. Lipotoxicity causes excess fat accumulation in non-adipose tissue such as skeletal muscles, liver, heart, pancreatic beta-cells and kidneys (McGarry and Dobbins 1999, Unger 1995). Obesity and the related comorbidities are associated with lipotoxicity, and overfeeding increases levels of FFAs which dramatically increases lipogenesis in attempts to lower plasma FFAs by shuttling them into adipocytes (McGarry and Dobbins 1999). In dysfunctional adipose tissue lipotoxicity can; increase ROS causing beta-cell deterioration (Lenzen 2008), disturb mitochondrial homeostasis (Schrauwen and Hesselink 2004, Supale et al 2012), promote nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (Cusi 2012) and impair insulin sensitivity (Vigouroux, et al. 2011) all driving mechanisms behind the comorbidities associated with obesity.

#### Type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetes is characterized by insulin resistance and typically develops over a period of many years (Stumvoll et al 2005). Insulin resistance is the inability of insulin sensitive cells to utilize glucose correctly (Ye 2013), usually due to the defects in the insulin-signaling pathway. During the initial stages of insulin resistance, the pancreatic beta-cells will continuously produce insulin in response to hyperglycemia. However, the beta-cells will eventually reach a critical point at which they can no longer sustain insulin production. This is believed to be one of the most important factors that precipitate the onset of type 2 diabetes (Eberle et al 2013).

The formal diagnosis of type 2 diabetes (<u>Alberti and Zimmet 1998</u>) occurs when fasting blood glucose levels are greater than 125 mg/dL, but the exact event or process that tips the scale from insulin resistance to diabetes is harder to determine and predict. There are many factors that affect this process in individuals (<u>Stumvoll, et al. 2005</u>), and that is why we are attempting to elucidate the processes that lead to the progression of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes by studying how the key proteins, ATM and DNA-PK, regulate oxidative tone during adipogenesis.

#### Cellular senescence

Normal somatic cells undergo senescence after they reach their proliferative capacity (Goldstein 1990), which is tissue specific. Senescence is the loss of proliferative potential, not permanent cell cycle arrest because cells can undergo cell cycle arrest without being senescent (Blagosklonny 2011). Senescent cells are still metabolically active and can carry out various cellular processes (Goldstein 1990). Senescence due to irreversible growth-

arrest is termed replicative senescence, during which the cells appear flat. Senescence promotes aging, but is also a barrier of tumorigenesis, stifling cancer at an early stage (Patil et al 2005). At a pH of 4.5- 6.0, senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity can be detected in senescent cells. The reason for increased senescence-associated  $\beta$ galactosidase activity in senescent cells is due to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase originating from the lysosomes. During senescence, there is an increase in the size and number of lysosomes.  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity is an outcome of senescence, but the activity of the enzyme is not required for the induction of senescence (Lee et al 2006).

In the field of DNA damage repair and cancer, the cellular senescent phenotype is well studied (Campisi 2011); however, we are interested in the effects of senescence in adipose tissue. Principally, we are interested in the mechanisms that control preadipocyte senescence, which we believe to be a factor contributing to dysfunctional adipose tissue. Emerging lines of evidence show that differentiated adipocytes in fat tissue display senescent-like characteristics, challenging the basic concepts of cellular senescence (Tchkonia, et al. 2010). Under oxidative adipocytes stress. exhibit a senescent/proinflammatory phenotype characterized by increased production of ROS, more DNA damage, shortened telomeres and impaired glucose uptake (Monickaraj et al 2013). Interestingly, removal of senescent cells delays age related pathologies in various tissues in mice (<u>Baker et al 2011</u>). Thus, prevention, elimination or treatment of senescent cells in adipose tissue is a possible therapeutic intervention for the treatment of the comorbidities of obesity.

The age related changes in adipose tissue of obese individuals, whether they are young or old, may have severe systemic consequences and lead to premature onset of chronic disease and death. Senescent cells secrete factors that can negatively alter their microenvironment (Coppe et al 2010), which is termed the bystander effect. The bystander effects also encompasses the increased oxidative stress and concentration of proinflammatory cytokines (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna 2007, Nelson et al 2012) in the vicinity of senescent cells. It has been hypothesized that DNA damage response proteins facilitate this process to warn surrounding cells of their potentially harmful condition (Rodier et al 2009).

#### **Mechanisms of Metabolic Dysfunction**

#### **Oxidative stress**

Since oxidative stress and inflammation are central to obesity, it is important to understand adipocytes in terms of their contributions to and role in ROS metabolism. ROS is a collective term for chemical species (e.g. superoxide anion ( $O_2^-$ ), hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) and the hydroxyl radical ( $HO_{\bullet}$ )) that are formed after incomplete reduction of oxygen. ROS are potentially toxic because they contain oxygen, which makes them highly chemically reactive. The imbalance of antioxidant events and production of ROS generates oxidative stress, which can lead to tissue damage (Bergamini et al 2004). For example, oxidative stress can cause structural and conformational damage to proteins, thereby generating new antigens that provoke immune responses and result in inflammation (Adler et al 1999, Cabiscol et al 2000).

Oxidative damage to proteins can affect the function of the entire organism (i.e. by damaging enzymes, receptors, transport proteins, cytoskeleton components and disrupt DNA repair pathway activity). In particular, insulin exposure to ROS increases the concentration of free carbonyl groups, which encourages the formation of peroxidation products on insulin's amino acid side chains. The resulting changes can cause the insulin protein to aggregate, cross-link, and fragment, thus affecting immunoreactivity (Olivares-Corichi et al 2005), and perhaps giving biological evidence of insulin resistance *in vivo*.

ROS are required signaling molecules that are necessary in most basic biological processes. However, they are harmful and causative agents in many diseases when their balance is disturbed. ROS molecular recognition is at the level of amino acids, or the atomic level, unlike other types of specific signaling, in which a ligand binds non-covalently to its receptor via conformational changes. To date, there is much controversy regarding the specificity of ROS signaling (Adler, et al. 1999). ROS signaling occurs through chemical signaling that leads to covalent protein modifications, which presumably would lead to indiscriminate and non-specific ROS signaling. However, ROS redox mechanisms have high specificity, but it is not clear how this is achieved *in vivo* (D'Autréaux and Toledano 2007, Møller and Sweetlove 2010).

ROS are crucial regulators in most systemic processes in the body. In many diseased states, such as obesity, ROS and oxidative stress are increased (Gutowski and Kowalczyk 2013). The genetic, proteomic, cellular and systemic damage from oxidative stress during obesity could be responsible for inflammation and many of the pathologies associated with the obese state. Chronic low-level inflammation is a hallmark of most diseases related to obesity, such as atherosclerosis and type 2 diabetes (Duncan et al 2003, Wellen and

<u>Hotamisligil 2005</u>). Obese people also have increased biomarkers of oxidative stress due to over nutrition and inflammation (<u>Block et al 2002</u>, <u>Dandona 2002</u>, <u>Dandona and Aljada 2002</u>). Further, obese people have more plasma ROS than people of a normal weight because their excessive fat may promote an oxidizing extracellular environment (<u>Gletsu-Miller et al 2009</u>).

When adipose tissue is subject to increased oxidative stress and inflammation, it impairs adipocyte maturation from preadipocyte precursors (Findeisen, et al. 2011). This can cause defective adipokine (cytokines released from adipocytes) and insulin signaling (Stentz et al 2004). Defective signaling can cause an infiltration of inflammatory cells, increased cell death, and the loss of antioxidant protection (Fernandez-Sanchez, et al. 2011, Mlinar and Marc 2011, Parola and Marra 2011). Therefore, oxidative stress is perhaps the most common pathology that all of the various comorbidities of obesity have in common (Kral et al 2010, Lepor et al 2013, Malik, et al. 2013, Must, et al. 1999).

#### Immune response

When a pathogen is able to infect our bodies, constantly circulating leukocytes will detect the infection and cross the blood barrier to the site of the infection. This then starts the inflammatory process, which is a consequence of the body's immune response. Inflammation is characterized by redness, heat, swelling and pain and is a normal response in the process of healing. Varying degrees of the inflammatory response are present at all times in many disease states, particularly those that are associated with obesity, such as type 2 diabetes (Donath et al 2013, Ye 2013). Thus, inflammation is a double-edged sword,

in that it is necessary for healing from various infections but also can exacerbate many disease states.

The attraction of leukocytes to tissue is regulated by chemokines, a type of cytokine. Chemokines are secreted by damaged tissues, which cause a local inflammation response which directs circulating immune cells to the damaged tissue (Luster 1998). Circulating leukocytes enter infected tissue via extravasation. Extravasation is the process where leukocytes adhere to and pass between endothelial cells lining walls of blood vessels (Carmeliet et al 2001). The endothelial cells express specific leukocyte cell adhesion molecules that direct leukocytes to the site of the infection. Some cell adhesion molecules are expressed constitutively while others are only expressed after cytokine stimulation. Therefore, the expression of cell adhesion molecules on both endothelial cells and leukocytes is important for the induction of the inflammation response.

The biological activity of cytokines in promoting inflammation in response to an infection is necessary to promote healing. We believe this same process may exacerbate and induce many of the comorbidities of obesity. Below, is an explanation of how cytokines affect disease resistance, in terms of B and T cell activation, and insights on how this helpful process may be harmful in perpetuating the comorbidities of obesity.

B cells and T cells both recognize antigens, but B cells can directly recognize antigens via their membrane immunoglobins, while T cell antigen recognition requires the interaction of its T cell receptor with the antigen/ major histocompatibility complex (MHC). In addition, MHC's are only found on antigen presenting cells, while B cells can interact with any cell that express the correct surface markers. Once B and T cells are activated, they can exert numerous biological effects, many of which are done through the

secretion of cytokines. For example, activated T-helper cells can secrete interleukins 2, 4 or 5 that can cause B cell proliferation and induce class switching of B cells to IgE. On the other hand, activated T-helper cells can also secrete interferon gamma, which blocks the action of interleukin 4 in the class switching of B cells to IgE.

Cytokines are low-molecular-weight proteins or glycoproteins that play an important role in cell-to-cell communication. Cytokines have a short half-life in plasma or the blood stream and are principally produced by T-helper cells, dendritic cells and macrophages. Cytokines can regulate the development of immune effector cells and some cytokines possess the ability to have direct immune effector functions themselves. The susceptibility of cells to cytokines is dependent on specific membrane receptors. Most cytokines have very high affinity for their receptors, so biological effects can result from picomolar concentrations of cytokines (Nathan and Sporn 1991).

Once cytokines are released, they can activate and start signal transduction pathways that can affect a large network of interacting cells (Starr et al 1997). Cytokines are required for many responses, such as the development of the cellular and humoral response, induction of the inflammatory response, regulation of hematopoiesis, control of proliferation and differentiation and wound healing. The functions of cytokines are exerted in an antigen-nonspecific manner. Whichever cells have appropriate surface receptors are susceptible to cytokine signaling. Thus, the specificity of cytokines is primarily controlled by expression of cytokine receptors on individual cells.

The term cytokine usually refers to proteins secreted from immune cells. However, preadipocytes, can function similarly to immune cells and secrete cytokines (<u>Wang et al</u> 2004). Cytokines secreted from adipose tissue are technically termed adipokines (<u>Lau et</u>

al 2005, Trayhurn and Wood 2004, Trayhurn and Wood 2005), although there is inconsistency among the literature regarding nomenclature and the term cytokine is commonly used. Unfortunately, a hallmark of many diseases is chronic inflammation, which is usually the accumulation and activation of macrophages. This accumulation can stimulate fibroblast production, resulting in fibrosis and scar tissue that interferes with normal tissue function. An applicable example of how this happens during metabolic dysfunction would be the fibrotic conditions that affect adipose tissue and the kidney, liver and heart during metabolic dysfunction (K Sun et al 2013). There is even a life-threatening disease related to chronic macrophage activation called macrophage-activation syndrome. The disease is commonly observed in children with chronic immune dysfunction (such as those with juvenile idiopathic arthritis or systemic lupus erythematosus). This disease is often under- or mis- diagnosed and the only available therapies are immune suppressing drugs, which are known to be a difficult long-term treatment option.

#### Linking Metabolic Derangements to Adipocytes

#### **Inflammation**

The obese state is usually synonymous with increased oxidative stress(Furukawa, et al. 2004, Karbownik-Lewinska et al 2012), chronic inflammation (Cildir et al 2013) and a distorted immune response (Cancello and Clement 2006, Donath, et al. 2013). Adipose tissue of obese people has more macrophages than adipose tissue from normal individuals. This fact was some of the earliest evidence that demonstrated a mechanistic link between increased inflammation and the obese state (Kress, et al. 2005). An expression analysis of macrophage and non-macrophage cell populations in adipose tissue using macrophage

markers, such as CD68 was performed, and revealed that obese people have more macrophages in their adipose tissue. In addition, macrophages of obese individuals participate directly in adipose tissue inflammation by increasing the expression of IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Bourlier et al 2012).

TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 are proinflammatory cytokines of innate immunity and serve many necessary purposes such as regulating cell death, promoting vasculature, activating neutrophils and help influencing adaptive immunity by promoting proliferation and antibody secretion (Seidell 2000). In terms of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, the secretion and plasma concentrations of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  are higher than in healthy individuals and their dysregulation causes problems during many diseased states (Abraham et al 2007). For instance, TNF- $\alpha$  can effect changes that directly impact insulin resistance, such as inhibiting phosphorylation of the insulin receptor and preventing its translocation from the cytoplasm to the membrane and thus promoting hyperglycemia (Popkin and Doak 1998). In addition, IL-6 inhibits insulin receptor signal transduction and insulin action in hepatocytes (Must, et al. 1999). Taken together, the increased concentrations of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  in type 2 diabetics might be explained by dysfunctional preadipocytes acting as immune cells. In acting as immune cells, preadipocytes may secrete high levels of cytokines and causing a feed-forward loop and promoting the disease state typical of obesity and its comorbidities (See Figure 3: Cytokines).



# Figure 3: Cytokines

The toxic effects of cytokines may damage preadipocytes beyond repair, causing them to lose their ability to differentiate, even if normal extracellular homeostasis exists. If ability to differentiate is lost, and differentiation is blocked, overall metabolism is negatively affected because the renewal pool of adipocytes comprised, which leaves adipocytes vulnerable to dysfunction.

#### Insulin resistance

Children, and other mammals during early development, have the unique ability to increase adipocyte number. Adults typically do not make adipocytes unless they to replace ones that have malfunctioned or died (Chumlea et al 1981, Kirkland et al 1990, Strawford et al 2004). Therefore, individuals that were obese as children may be more efficient in storing more fat, either from their diet or from metabolic processes. This is because they have more adipocytes, and thus storage capacity, in adulthood than their peers who were not obese during childhood (Bonnet et al 1970, Spalding, et al. 2008). In adults, there is decreased ability for the body to increase total adipocyte number, and this usually only happens under extreme obesity conditions (Kovsan et al 2011, McDonald and Horwitz 1999). Unfortunately, this inability to make new adipocytes can inflict severe stress on existing adipocytes, causing them to expand to an unnaturally large size, becoming unresponsive, and eventually becoming insulin resistant (West 2009).

The insulin sensitivity of obese individuals varies (Arner, et al. 2011). The location of the excess the adipose tissue is thought to play a key role in determining the insulin sensitivity. An obese individual with a gynoid body shape may retain their insulin sensitivity more than an obese individual with an android body shape with the same body fat percentage (Dolinkova et al 2008, Epel et al 2000, Kaplan 1989). However, more recent studies debate the validity of this presumption. It has been shown that an increase in body fat, not dependent on fat depot distribution, is the strongest correlation for an increase in the risk of developing obesity related diseases (Gregg et al 2005), not body shape or location of fat stores.

There is research that shows the subcutaneous adipose tissue of insulin resistant individuals is composed of smaller adipocytes than adipose tissue from insulin sensitive individuals. Interestingly, these small adipocytes from the insulin resistant individuals had lower lipid storage capacity, which is a hallmark of adipose tissue dysfunction, compared to the adipocytes of insulin sensitive individuals (McLaughlin et al 2010). Yet, drugs used to treat insulin resistance in type 2 diabetics, such as a thiazolidinediones (TZDs) (Day 1999), which are PPAR $\gamma$  agonists (Spiegelman 1998), spur the maturation of new adipocytes, creating increased lipid storage capacity that can help alleviate hyperglycemia and promote insulin sensitivity. TZDs increase the number of small adipocytes are unable to take up lipids properly (Spiegelman 1998).

Some data support that the insulin responsiveness of large and small adipocytes from the same depot does not vary (Wueest, et al. 2009), suggesting that adipocyte size is not related to insulin resistance. Conversely, there are other data that show larger, or hypertrophic adipocytes, are the predominate type of adipocytes found in individuals with insulin resistance (Yang, et al. 2012). Also adipocyte hypertrophy is associated with proinflammatory factors and cellular necrosis (Jo, et al. 2009), both which are known factors that help drive insulin resistance. Furthermore, obese insulin resistant individuals have larger adipocytes and more macrophages in their subcutaneous fat than do obese insulin sensitive individuals (Molgat, et al. 2011). The molecular mechanisms that perpetuate this phenotype are largely misunderstood, but understanding this insulin resistant state will provide clinicians with valuable treatment options in dealing and managing type 2 diabetes (Arner, et al. 2011).

# CHAPTER 2: THE KINASE ACTIVITY OF ATM AND DNA-PK<sub>CS</sub> IS CRITICAL DURING ADIPOGENESIS

#### Abstract

Adipogenesis, the process of adipocyte differentiation, and lipid droplet formation are key processes regulating adipocyte integrity and preventing dysfunction. It has been shown that both processes are regulated by oxidative stress. The DNA damage repair proteins ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> can be activated in response to oxidative stress in normal human fibroblasts. Therefore, we hypothesize ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> play a critical role in maintaining adipocyte integrity. In this study, the standard adipocyte differentiation process of murine 3T3-L1 preadipocytes and mouse embryonic fibroblasts were manipulated. We used chemical inhibitors of ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>, antioxidants, and prooxidants. After treatments, we studied the cellular morphology, lipid accumulation, oxidative damage, and the expression of lipid droplet associated proteins. We found that ATM and DNA-PK are necessary for lipid accumulation and they exert their effects via a ROS dependent pathway. Based on our results, ATM and DNA-PK could emerge as molecular targets for intervention of obesity and related comorbidities.

## Introduction

#### <u>Rationale</u>

Although the initial studies of ATM and DNA-PK focused on their role in DNA repair, emerging evidence indicates roles beyond their function in the DNA damage

response. ATM is activated by oxidative stress (Guo, et al. 2010a, Guo, et al. 2010b) and we have shown that DNA-PK is necessary to relay the selenium-induced ROS response in human fibroblasts (Rocourt et al 2013). ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> are involved in cellular senescence (Rocourt, et al. 2013, Wu, et al. 2010) and the secreted components of senescent cells are thought to disrupt tissue function and structure (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna 2007). As the complications of obesity can in part be explained by the structure and function of adipocytes, our central hypothesis is that ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> are critical for maintaining preadipocyte and adipocyte integrity.

#### <u>Significance</u>

Although attempts have been made to understand obesity related diseases at the molecular level, obesity, and the related complications, are predicted to continue to increase (Malik, et al. 2013). The mechanism by which being overweight or obese predispose individuals to comorbidities is not clear (Allison et al 1999, Guh et al 2009, Paeratakul et al 2002). To further complicate matters, current screening methods for identifying those at risk for obesity associated comorbidities and metabolic dysfunctions are primarily anthropometric measurements such as BMI and waist circumference (Abate 2012). These fail to capture a percentage of individuals that are risk for developing metabolic diseases because they do not meet the criteria or cut offs (Waugh et al 2013).

Not only is there a need for better screening for obesity-related comorbidities, but there is also a need to better understand the obesity-mortality paradox, in which ~ 10% people who are overweight or mildly obese are metabolically healthy while ~ 8-24% of people with a normal BMI are metabolically unhealthy (<u>Ahima and Lazar 2013</u>, <u>Phillips</u>)

<u>2013</u>). We and others (<u>Guilherme, et al. 2008</u>, <u>Trayhurn 2013</u>, <u>Vigouroux, et al. 2011</u>) believe that unifying factors among individuals with metabolic dysfunctions are disturbances in adipose tissue functioning.

#### <u>Hypothesis</u>

We believe that oxidative stress is central to the comorbidities of obesity. It is our hypothesis that the DNA damage response proteins, ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>, serve a critical role in regulating ROS throughout the lifecycle of adipose tissue. It is our view that dysfunctional adipocytes are responsible for the comorbidities of obesity; with the central driving force being ROS and oxidative damage triggering a senescence-associated secretory phenotype (Kirkland et al 2002, Rodier, et al. 2009, Tchkonia, et al. 2010) in preadipocytes, thus creating toxic adipose tissue that causes systemic effects.

To test our hypothesis, we used murine 3T3-L1 fibroblasts and murine embryonic fibroblasts and employed the use of specific kinase inhibitors to determine the requirement of ATM and DNA-PK during adipogenesis. After critical analysis of the data, we performed experiments that attempted to explain the molecular underpinnings of how ATM and DNA-PK contribute to adipocyte homeostasis.

#### Methods

#### Cell lines and maintenance

SV40-transformed wild-type, DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub><sup>-/-</sup>, Ku70<sup>-/-</sup> and Ku80<sup>-/-</sup> Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts (MEFs) from E13.5 embryos were obtained from UT Southwestern Medical Center. MEFs were grown as previously reported (<u>Rocourt, et al. 2013</u>, <u>S Zhang et al</u> 2011). Murine 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (CL173) were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA) (See Figure 2: Lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes). Preadipocytes were cultured in Dulbecco's minimum essential medium (DMEM) (GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (GibcoBRL) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (GibcoBRL) and were maintained in a 37° C humidified atmosphere in either 20% oxygen or 3% oxygen.

#### Adipocyte differentiation

Adipogenesis was induced by using induction media; 10% FBS DMEM was supplemented with the hormonal proadipogenic cocktail of 166 nM insulin dissolved in 0.02 M HCl, 0.5 mM 3-isobutyl-1-methyl-xanthine (IBMX) dissolved in 0.5N potassium hydroxide (KOH) and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone (Dex) dissolved in ethanol (Hemati et al 1997) to cells that were two days past 100% confluency (designated Day 0). After two days, the induction media was refreshed for 1 day and then the cells were maintained in insulin media (166 nM insulin in 10% FBS DMEM) until used for experiments, typically on day 12~15 (See Figure 1: Timeline of Adipocyte Differentiation).

#### Lipid accumulation

To detect lipid droplets, the coverslips were incubated with HCS LipidTOX<sup>™</sup> Green neutral lipid stain (1:100 in BSA, Invitrogen Molecular Probes, Carlsbad, CA) for 1 h at room temperature. Then the coverslips were washed with 1x PBS and mounted onto slides with a drop of Prolong<sup>®</sup> Gold mounting media containing 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Invitrogen Molecular Probes), which serves to adhere the coverslip to the slide, stain the nuclei and prevent fading of fluorescence.

#### **Treatments**

Cells were treated with, without, or in combination with the following: the ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO, Tocris, Ellisville, MO), the DNA-PK kinase inhibitor NU 7026 (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO, Tocris), the antioxidants N- acetylcysteine (NAC) (10 mM in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), Sigma- Aldrich) and 2, 2, 6, 6-tetramethyl-piperidine-1-oxyl (TEMPO) (1 mM in PBS, Sigma- Aldrich), the prooxidant hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) (10  $\mu$ M in double distilled water, Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA) and Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Vehicle, Sigma- Aldrich,). All chemicals were added to the cell culture and incubated at 37° C for the times specified by the experiment. Please refer to

Appendix for more detailed information.

#### Co-culture

For co-culture experiments, undifferentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were grown on porous wells that nestle into standard 6-well plates. The fibroblasts were treated with ATM and DNA-PK inhibitors to induce senescence. Upon senescence, the wells with the treated cells were added to individual wells of a 6-well dish that contained 3T3-L1 cells, grown on coverslips that had been hormonally induced to undergo adipogenesis. Thus, by coculturing, the differentiated 3T3-L1 cells were exposed to the cellular environment and culture medium of the senescent preadipocytes. The differentiated cells were then subjected to immunofluorescence microscopy.

#### Oil-Red-O staining

Oil-Red-O (ORO) (Sigma-Aldrich) staining was conducted, as previously described (<u>Ramirez-Zacarias et al 1992</u>, <u>Ross et al 1999</u>, <u>Ross et al 2000</u>, <u>van Goor et al 1986</u>) with little modification, in order to determine lipid accumulation <u>ENREF\_7</u> <u>Dye preparation</u>: 0.5 g of ORO was dissolved in 250 mL isopropanol to form a stock solution. 30 minutes before staining, 20 mL of deionized water was added to 30 mL of the stock solution to make the working solution, and then put on a stir plate at 50° C until adipocyte staining was completed.

<u>Cell staining</u>: Adherent cells were gently rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) then fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 1 h, washed with 1x PBS then refixed with 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 2-3 days. After fixation, the cells were rinsed with 1x PBS followed by 60% isopropyl alcohol, which was added and allowed to evaporate. The cells were then stained with the ORO working solution for 10 min. Plates were rinsed 3x with tap water and allowed to dry. Photographs were taken, and cells were subsequently analyzed as described below.

<u>Quantification of stained cells</u>: Stained cells were counted under a light microscope (40x- 400x magnification) and given a score based on the percent lipid accumulation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%.

#### <u>Senescence</u>

To determine senescence, we detected the expression of senescence associated- $\beta$ -galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal) by using a Senescence Detection Kit (MBL Co. Ltd., Woburn,

MA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and our previous publication (<u>Rocourt</u>, et al. 2013).

#### Coverslip preparation

Immunofluorescence analysis was performed as described previously with slight modifications (Nioi et al 2007, Rocourt, et al. 2013)\_ENREF\_9. MEFs and 3T3-L1 cells were seeded on coverslips in 6-well plates at 70% confluency then differentiated and treated as described above. At the end of the experiment, coverslips were rinsed in PBS, fixed in 4 % paraformaldehyde solution in PBS for 30 min at room temperature and then washed twice with 1x PBS.

#### Antibody detection

Cells were prepared as described above with minor modifications as follows; after 15 min fixation with a paraformaldehyde solution, the cells were permeabilized with ice-cold methanol for 10 min at -20° C. Next, the cells were permeabilized again for 10 min in 0.3% Triton X-100 and then blocked in 10% normal goat serum / 0.3 M glycine in 1x PBS for 1 h to block non-specific protein-protein interactions. Individual coverslips were hybridized with either of the following antibodies for 1 hour (h) at room temperature (RT): monoclonal anti- $\gamma$ H2A.X at Serine 139 ( $\gamma$ H2A.X) (1: 250 in BSA, Abcam, Boston, MA) and perilipin D418 (1:200 in BSA, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA).

After incubation with antibodies, the coverslips were washed in 1x PBS, and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit for perilipin and Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated goat anti-mouse  $\gamma$ H2A.X both from Invitrogen Molecular Probes) in BSA (1:200 dilution) for 1 h at RT in the dark. Cells

were then washed 3x in 1x PBS and the coverslips were mounted onto slides that contained a drop of DAPI and were visualized using immunofluorescent microscopy.

#### Quantification of antibody data

The immunostaining was visualized using the 63x oil-immersion lens on a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1m (Zeiss, Thornwood, NY). A z-stack of 10 photos was taken of the appropriate channels (DAPI, GFP and DsRed). Images were obtained using the same parameters of brightness, contrast and exposure time (DAPI 5 ms, LipidTOX 125 ms,  $\gamma$ H2A.X 40 ms, and perilipin 75 ms). Images were then processed using the deconvolution function of the software AxioVision Release 4.7.2.0. Lipid droplet data were quantified by comparing the saturation, size and distribution of lipid droplets (LipidTOX) as well as counting foci as described previously (Rocourt, et al. 2013) for perilipin and  $\gamma$ H2A.X data.

#### **Granularity**

Flow cytometry was conducted to determine the degree of lipid accumulation as previously described (Lee et al 2004). In preparation for flow cytometry, the samples were trypsinized for 3 min, then serum-containing media was added to stop digestion and the suspension was centrifuged (1000 rpm, 2 min at RT) to form a pellet. The supernatant was discarded, the cells resuspended in ice-cold 1x PBS and were immediately analyzed using a BD FACSCanto II flow cytometer. Increasing side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC) were used to indicate lipid accumulation and cell size, respectively. The data was analyzed using FlowJo version 7.6.5 (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR).

#### <u>Statistics</u>

All the experiments were independently performed and repeated three times. We defined the control as differentiated 3T3-L1 or MEF cells, induced to undergo adipogenesis as described above unless stated otherwise in the text. The data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software version 5.04 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA). Two tailed, one- sample t-tests were applied to determine statistical significance (\*, p<0.05) between treatments.

## Results

#### ATM and DNA-PK kinase activity are necessary for lipid accumulation

Lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells was significantly decreased after treatment with the ATM and DNA-PK competitive protein kinase inhibitors, NU 7026 and KU 55933 (See Figure 4: ATM and DNA-PK kinase activity are necessary for lipid accumulation). The maximal effect of kinase inhibition on lipid droplet formation occurred when inhibition was induced prior to hormonal induction of adipogenesis (See Figure 5: ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibition has maximal effect on lipid accumulation when added before inducing adipogenesis).



# Figure 4: ATM and DNA-PK kinase activity are necessary for lipid accumulation

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated and treated with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen (A & B) or 3% oxygen (C & D). Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining (A & C), analyzed using a light microscope (400x), or LipidTOX (1:200 in BSA, 1 h RT) staining (B & D), analyzed using an immunofluorescent microscope (63x oil-immersion). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O or LipidTOX saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells). (E-G) Representative oil-immersion photographs (DAPI, blue color, nuclear stain; GFP, green color, lipid droplet stain) of differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts (E) treated with 10  $\mu$ M KU 55933 (F) or 10  $\mu$ M NU 7026 (G) and cultured in 20% oxygen.



# Figure 5: ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibition has maximal effect on lipid accumulation when added before inducing adipogenesis

3T3-L1 cells were hormonally induced to undergo differentiation (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM) treated with the ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO) or the DNA-PK kinase inhibitor NU 7026 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO) at the indicated time points then hybridized with LipidTOX (1:200 in BSA, 1 h RT) to visualize lipid droplets. Cells were observed with a fluorescence microscope to observe lipid staining (GFP, green color) and nuclear staining (DAPI, blue color).

ATM and DNA-PKcs are critical for lipid accumulation in mouse embryonic fibroblasts

Because of the reliability and accuracy of using chemical inhibition to study kinase activity, we employed mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) that have *Atm* and *PRKDC* (which encodes the DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>) knocked out. We chose these cells lines to study the role of the ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> proteins in adipogenesis, without the use of ATP competitive protein kinase inhibitors, which could potentially have off target effects. MEFs without the ATM protein accumulated significantly less lipids than did the wild type counterpart (See Figure 6: Knockout of the ATM gene decreases lipid accumulation in MEFs).

MEFs with DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> knocked out revealed minuscule lipid accumulation following hormonal induction of adipogenesis (See Figure 7: DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs show little lipid accumulation despite hormonal induction of adipogenesis). MEFs without DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> had a distinct fibroblast-like phenotype. Furthermore, differentiated DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs were much larger in size and had much smaller lipid droplets than the wild type control (See Figure 8: DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs are larger and have smaller lipid droplets than wild type MEFs).



# Figure 6: Knockout of the ATM gene decreases lipid accumulation in MEFs

Normal mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), and those without the ATM gene, were subject to hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM). Lipid accumulation was determined by analyzing Oil-Red-O staining using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to differentiated wild type MEFs, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to wild type MEFs).



# Figure 7: DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs show little lipid accumulation despite hormonal induction of adipogenesis

Wild type and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were subject to hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM) and cultured in 20% oxygen (A) and 3% oxygen (B). Lipid accumulation was determined by LipidTOX staining (1:200 in BSA, 1 h RT) visualized using an immunofluorescent microscope (63x oil-immersion). Scores were based on the percent LipidTOX saturation of differentiated wild type MEFs, which we designated as 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated wild type MEFs). Representative oil- immersion photographs (DAPI, blue color; nucleus GFP, green color; lipid droplet stain) of differentiated wild type (C) and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- (D) MEFs.



# Figure 8: DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs are larger and have smaller lipid droplets than wild type MEFs

Differentiated (A) wild type and (B) DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub><sup>-/-</sup> mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) cells hormonally induced to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM). Upon differentiation, cells were analyzed by observing the side scatter (y-axis) to forward scatter (x-axis) ratio, with higher values indicating increasing lipid accumulation and increasing cell size, respectively.

#### DNA-PK acts independently of the NHEJ pathway during adipogenesis

We also employed MEFs that were homozygous negative for Ku80 and Ku70, necessary proteins for the non-homologous end-joining pathway (NHEJ). The Ku80 and Ku70 proteins make up a heterodimer that together with DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>, make up the holoenzyme DNA-PK (Lees-Miller, et al. 1990). This heterodimer is the key kinase in the NHEJ pathway that repairs DNA DSBs (Lees-Miller and Meek 2003). In our experiment, the silencing of Ku70 and Ku80 did not significantly affect lipid accumulation in differentiated MEFs. This finding suggests that DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> affects lipid droplet formation independent of its role and function in the NHEJ pathway (See Figure 9: DNA-PK's role in adipocyte differentiation is independent from its function in the non-homologous end-joining pathway).



# Figure 9: DNA-PK's role in adipocyte differentiation is independent from its function in the non-homologous endjoining pathway

Wild type mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and MEFs with the following mutations;  $Ku70^{-/-}$ ,  $Ku80^{-/-}$  and  $DNA-PK_{cs}^{-3A/3A}$  (alanine mutation at the catalytically active site which results in significantly decreased kinase activity) were subjected to hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM). Lipid accumulation was determined by analyzing Oil-Red-O staining using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to differentiated wild type MEFs, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated wild type MEFs, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub><sup>-/-</sup> MEFs

#### ATM and DNA-PK inhibition decrease perilipin concentration

Because we saw decreased lipid droplet formation when we treated 3T3-L1 with ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibitors, we wanted to investigate which factors were responsible. Therefore, we chose to investigate the expression of the lipid droplet protein, perilipin 1. Perilipins coat lipid droplets and serves as a scaffolding protein. Furthermore, chromosomal variations at the perilipin locus are associated with obesity risk (<u>Tai and</u> <u>Ordovas 2007</u>) and some perilipin family members direct lipase to the lipid droplet in order to facilitate lipolysis (<u>Wang, et al. 2011</u>, <u>Wang et al 2003</u>). For these reasons, we hypothesize that ATM and DNA-PK inhibition could be decreasing perilipin localization to lipid droplets, which might explain why we observed decreased lipid accumulation.

In ATM and DNA-PK chemically inhibited 3T3-L1 adipocytes, perilipin concentrations were significantly decreased when compared to normally differentiated cells (See Figure 10: ATM and DNA-PK inhibition decreases perilipin concentration). Interestingly, we observed that the vehicle used to dissolve the chemical inhibitors, DMSO, which is known to have anti-inflammatory or antioxidant properties, slightly increased basal perilipin concentrations and their association with lipid droplets.



# Figure 10: ATM and DNA-PK inhibition decreases perilipin concentration

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated and treated with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Differentiated cells were probed for perilipin (1: 200 in BSA, 1 h RT; 2° Ab Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit 1: 200 in BSA, 1 h RT) and LipidTOX (1: 100 in BSA, 1 h RT) then visualized using an immunofluorescent microscope (63x oil-immersion). Each treatment was given a score based on the total perilipin concentration when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells). Photographs are representative of data in bar graph and the vehicle, DMSO, used to dissolve the inhibitors. DAPI, blue color, nuclear stain; GFP, green color, lipid droplet stain; DsRed, red color, perilipin antibody; Merge, yellow color, co-localization of perilipin and lipid droplet.

#### ROS promotes lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 and MEF models of adipogenesis

Because we have previously shown that ATM and DNA-PK are activated in response to oxidative stress in human normal fibroblasts (Wu, et al. 2010), we hypothesized that the decreased adipogenesis after KU 55933 and NU 7026 treatment was due to changes in oxidative stress levels. Furthermore, literature has indicated that oxidative stress is required for differentiation (Higuchi et al 2013) but that chronic increased oxidative stress can inhibit adipogenesis (Findeisen, et al. 2011) and promotes adipogenesis. Whatever the mechanism, it is likely that oxidative stress is a critical regulator of adipogenesis.

In order to test our hypothesis that ATM and DNA-PK act via a ROS dependent pathway during adipogenesis, we first established the effect of oxidative stress in our models. Briefly, we treated differentiating 3T3-L1 with the antioxidants NAC and TEMPO as well as the ROS generating prooxidant H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and cultured them in 3% and 20% oxygen and measured the lipid accumulation (See Figure 11: The effect of oxidative stress on lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells). Our results suggest that increased ROS levels results in increased lipid droplet accumulation and that antioxidant treatment slightly diminishes lipid droplet formation.

We also performed similar experiments in our wild type MEFs to establish the effect that oxidative stress played in their ability to accumulate lipids (See Figure 12: The effect of oxidative stress on lipid accumulation in MEFs). We found that differentiated wild type MEFs, when pretreated with  $H_2O_2$  and NAC, had similar lipid accumulation patterns to the 3T3-L1-cell line.  $H_2O_2$  promoted increased lipid droplet formation while NAC slightly decreased or had no effect on lipid accumulation.



# Figure 11: The effect of oxidative stress on lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells

3T3-L1 fibroblasts differentiated and treated with the prooxidant  $H_2O_2$  (10  $\mu$ M in dd  $H_2O$ , 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or the antioxidants NAC (10 mM in PBS, 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen (A & B) or 3% oxygen (C & D). Lipid accumulation was determined by analyzing Oil-Red-O staining (A & C) using a light microscope (400x) or by LipidTOX staining (B & D) using an oil-immersion immunofluorescent microscope (63x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O or LipidTOX saturation when compared to the untreated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells). (E) Light microscope photograph of differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes illustrating the proadipogenic additive effect of  $H_2O_2$  treatment (10  $\mu$ M in dd  $H_2O$ , 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and culturing cells in 3% oxygen.


Figure 12: The effect of oxidative stress on lipid accumulation in MEFs

Wild type mouse embryonic fibroblasts were subject to hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM) and treated with the prooxidant H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (10  $\mu$ M in dd H<sub>2</sub>O, 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or the antioxidant NAC (10 mM in PBS, 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen (A & B) or 3% oxygen (C & D). Lipid accumulation was determined by analyzing Oil-Red-O staining (A & C) using a light microscope (400x) or by LipidTOX staining (B & D) using an oil-immersion immunofluorescent microscope (63x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O or LipidTOX saturation when compared to the untreated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated MEFs).

# <u>ATM and DNA-PK orchestrate adipogenesis and lipid accumulation by regulating</u> <u>oxidative tone</u>

In order link oxidative stress, lipid droplet accumulation and the role of ATM and DNA-PK kinases, we pretreated with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or NAC followed by KU 55933 and NU 7026 treatment during adipogenesis. Both antioxidant and prooxidant pretreatment significantly altered the capacity of the fibroblasts to differentiate and accumulate lipids (See Figure 13: ATM and DNA-PK influence lipid droplet formation via a ROS dependent pathway). Although antioxidant pretreatment had the largest effect, both treatments increased the lipid droplet formation and restored adipocyte morphology, despite the ATM or DNA-PK chemical inhibition.

This effect was greatest in cells that had ATM chemically inhibited, suggesting that ATM is a more critical regulator, or is upstream of DNA-PK, in the regulation of ROS before and during adipogenesis. Taken together, ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> respond to ROS and oxidative stress and preserve a normal pattern of lipid retention in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

Pretreating DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs with NAC and  $H_2O_2$  revealed a similar, but less significant, trend to the 3T3-L1 fibroblasts. Specifically, both antioxidant and prooxidant treatment increased the lipid accumulation in DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs (See Figure 14: Both antioxidant and prooxidant treatment causes DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs to increase lipid accumulation).



# Figure 13: ATM and DNA-PK influence lipid droplet formation via a ROS dependent pathway

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were pretreated with the prooxidant  $H_2O_2$  (10 µM in dd  $H_2O$ , 48 h treatment started day -2 of adipogenesis) or the antioxidant NAC (10 mM in PBS, 48 h treatment started day -2 of adipogenesis) followed immediately by hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1 µM dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM) and (A) treatment with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10 µM in DMSO, 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or (B) the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10 µM in DMSO, started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by LipidTOX staining using an oil-immersion immunofluorescent microscope (63x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O or LipidTOX saturation when compared to the untreated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to inhibitor only treated 3T3-L1 cells). (C) The top row of pictures are representative photographs of bar graph A and the bottom row of pictures is representative of bar graph B; where the blue color is DAPI, a nuclear stain and the green color is LipidTOX, a lipid stain.



# Figure 14: Both antioxidant and prooxidant treatment causes DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-/- MEFs to increase lipid accumulation

DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-<sup>-</sup> MEFs were treated with the prooxidant  $H_2O_2$  (10  $\mu$ M in dd  $H_2O$ , 48 h treatment started day -2 of adipogenesis) or the antioxidant NAC (10 mM in PBS, 48 h treatment started day -2 of adipogenesis) followed by hormonal stimulation to undergo adipogenesis (166 nM Insulin, 0.5 mM IBMX, and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone in 10% FBS DMEM) and then cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by LipidTOX staining using an oil-immersion immunofluorescent microscope (63x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent LipidTOX saturation when compared to the untreated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>-<sup>-/-</sup> MEFs). The photographs represent the treatments seen in the bar graph; where the blue color is DAPI, a nuclear stain and the green color is LipidTOX, a lipid stain.

#### Requirement of DNA damage in differentiation

There are various cellular rearrangements required for adipogenesis such as mitotic clonal expansion (Lee et al 2009), permanent growth arrest (Ailhaud et al 1990), rearrangement of nuclear architecture (Xiong et al 2013), cytoskeleton changes (Liu et al 2005, Selvarajan et al 2001), up-regulation of genes (Cristancho and Lazar 2011), etc.). It is our hypothesis that ATM and DNA-PK kinases could affect some of the processes regulating cellular rearrangement during adipogenesis via an oxidative stress related pathway.

Since it was found that ATM and DNA-PK could influence adipogenesis via a ROS dependent pathway, we were interested in determining which pathways these kinases regulate. We set out to test if  $\gamma$ H2A.X is a mediator or intermediate in the ATM and DNA-PK pathway during adipogenesis. We chose to study  $\gamma$ H2A.X, a marker of DNA damage, because it is phosphorylated by ATM and DNA-PK in response to DNA damage (An et al 2010, B Meyer et al 2013) or oxidative stress (Wrann et al 2013).

Because our previous experiments demonstrated that ATM and DNA-PK are critical for adipocyte differentiation, most likely through an ATM- DNA-PK- ROS dependent pathway,  $\gamma$ H2A.X expression was the most logical mechanistic candidate to carry out and relay/amplify the oxidative stress signaling. ATM and DNA-PK inhibition is altered by prooxidants and antioxidants and  $\gamma$ H2A.X phosphorylation is known to occur during oxidative stress (Zhao et al 2008) and during to hypoxia (Trayhurn 2013). Both are common in adipose tissue of obese individuals. Taken together, these facts make it reasonable to suspect that  $\gamma$ H2A.X has an important role in adipogenesis.

Differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were treated with the ATM inhibitor KU 55933 or the DNA-PK inhibitor NU 7026, as well as antioxidants, and cultured in both 3% and 20% oxygen incubator environments. Lipid accumulation and  $\gamma$ H2A.X signals were detected using immunofluorescence microscopy. The results suggest that  $\gamma$ H2A.X phosphorylation is a required step in adipogenesis and that cells in the 20% oxygen environment were more prone to oxidative DNA damage and have decreased lipid accumulation (See Figure 15: DNA damage in adipocytes)

In addition, cells treated with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, had more  $\gamma$ H2A.X foci than those treated with the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026. From literature, it is known that  $\gamma$ H2A.X and DNA-PK activity display unusual and unexpected activity during adipogenesis (Meulle et al 2008). However, the question lies in why there is an increased presence of  $\gamma$ H2A.X in differentiated cells treated with an antioxidant or those treated with the inhibitors.

# Figure 15: DNA damage in adipocytes

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated and treated with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) or the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen (A) or 3% oxygen (B). Differentiated cells were then hybrized with a  $\gamma$ H2A.X antibody (1: 250 in BSA, 1 h RT; 2° Ab Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-mouse 1: 200 in BSA, 1 h RT), which is a marker for DNA damage, and LipidTOX (1: 100 in BSA, 1 h RT) then visualized (DAPI, blue color, nuclear stain; GFP, green color, lipid droplet stain; DsRed, red color,  $\gamma$ H2A.X) using the 63x oil-immersion lens of an immunofluorescent microscope.

(Next pages)



KU 55933













# D<sub>2</sub> Control

3% O<sub>2</sub> B

KU 55933





TEMPO





#### <u>Preadipocyte senescence is toxic to adipose tissue</u>

Increased oxidative stress may cause preadipocytes to senescence (<u>Tchkonia, et al.</u> 2010). Furthermore, senescent preadipocytes may create a toxic environment that contributes to and exacerbates adipocyte dysfunction, paving the way for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (<u>Guilherme, et al. 2008</u>). It is our hypothesis that ATM and DNA-PK kinases have a role in the propagation of senescent preadipocytes (Please refer to Figure 27: Conceptual Model for more details).

In order to test this hypothesis, we treated undifferentiated 3T3-L1 cells with the ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 or DNA-PK kinase inhibitor NU 7026. We observed a senescent-like phenotype in the cells (See Figure 16: ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibition causes a senescent-like phenotype). Not only was the phenotype of the preadipocytes affected, but an increased presence of SA- $\beta$ -gal was more detected in cells treated with DNA-PK kinase inhibitor, NU 7026 and ATM kinase inhibitor, KU 55933, and the general PIKK inhibitors wortmannin and caffeine, than cells with no treatment at all (See Figure 17: ATM and DNA-PK inhibition cause preadipocyte senescence).

We experimented with a co-culturing preadipocytes and adipocytes to see if the extracellular environment of one could illicit cellular changes in the other. Preadipocytes have functions beyond serving as a reservoir for adipogenesis. During adipose tissue dysfunction preadipocytes can behave like macrophages and participate directly in inflammatory processes (Cousin, et al. 1999).

Differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes were co-cultured with preadipocytes treated with the ATM kinase inhibitor, KU 55933, or the DNA-PK kinase inhibitor, NU 7026, to assess the effect the senescent phenotype of the preadipocyte would have on differentiated adipocytes. The differentiated adipocytes and the senescent preadipocytes were cocultured for 72 hours, then measured for lipid accumulation. The most apparent phenotype of the differentiated 3T3-L1 cell was a diminished scheme of lipid accumulation. Additionally, the cells took on different shapes from their normal adipocyte counterparts (See Figure 18: Senescent preadipocytes alter phenotype of adipocytes in co-culture model).



# Figure 16: ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibition causes a senescent-like phenotype

Undifferentiated 3T3-L1 cells (preadipocytes) (A) were treated with the ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO, 6 days) (B) or the DNA-PK kinase inhibitor NU 7026 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO, 10 days) (C) then harvested for analysis. Cells were observed with a fluorescence microscope to observe LipidTOX staining (GFP, green color) and nuclear staining (DAPI, blue color).



# Figure 17: ATM and DNA-PK inhibition cause preadipocyte senescence

Undifferentiated 3T3-L1 cells (preadipocytes) were treated with the ATM kinase inhibitor KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO, 48 h), the DNA-PK kinase inhibitor NU 7026 (10  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO, 48 h) and the general PIKK inhibitors caffeine (2 mM in dd H<sub>2</sub>O) and wortmannin (200  $\mu$ M in DMSO) then allowed to recover for 10 days. Cells were harvested and tested for senescence by detecting the presence of senescence associated- $\beta$ -galactosidase present (blue color) visualized using a light microscope at 200x.



# Figure 18: Senescent preadipocytes alter phenotype of adipocytes in co-culture model

Undifferentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were grown on porous wells and made to senescence with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; continuous) or the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; continuous) and cultured in 20% oxygen (not shown). The well containing cells treated with KU 55933 was transferred to a culture of differentiated 3T3-L1 cells (B) and the well containing cells treated with NU 7026 was transferred to a different culture of differentiated 3T3-L1 cells (C). The differentiated cells and senescent preadipocytes were co-cultured together for 72 h, then the adipocytes were harvested and stained with LipidTOX (1: 100 in BSA, 1 h RT, green color) and mounted on slides containing DAPI (1 drop, nuclear stain, blue color) then visualized using an immunofluorescent microscope (63x oil-immersion) and compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes that were grown under normal conditions (A).

#### Discussion

Our results support the hypothesis that ROS, oxidative stress, and senescence can play a central role in metabolic dysfunction (Nelson, et al. 2012) and that the kinases ATM and DNA-PK are key orchestrators of this response. Furthermore, this study helps elucidate possible mechanisms whereby preadipocytes and adipocytes cause dysfunctions in adipose tissue during obesity.

We believe our results help explain why, during obesity, it is possible that preadipocytes do not or cannot normally replicate and only undergo partial adipogenesis, giving rise to non-functional, immature adipocytes. This could increase local and systemic inflammation, resulting in infiltration by macrophages (<u>O'Rourke, et al. 2012</u>, <u>Trayhurn</u> and Wood 2004).

The increase in H2A.X phosphorylation in differentiated adipocytes can be explained by a recent study that indicates high levels of phosphorylation of H2A occurs after mitotic arrest in normal cells (Tu et al 2013). Preadipocytes have to undergo mitotic arrest before committing to the adipocyte linage, so perhaps H2A phosphorylation by ATM and/or DNA-PK in response to oxidative stress is a key event in mitotic clonal expansion. If that were the case, it would also help explain why preadipocytes that have ATM and DNA-PK inhibited fail to undergo full differentiation. Further studies are needed to confirm these hypotheses.

Recently, the role of dysfunctional beta-cells has been tied closely with the diabetic state (<u>Bensellam et al 2012</u>, <u>Gilbert and Liu 2012</u>). Beta- cells primarily self-replicate and do not draw heavily on stem-cell progenitors. Thus, cell cycle machinery and checkpoints

are critical to ensuring proper replication and function of beta-cells (<u>Tavana and Zhu 2011</u>). The DNA damage proteins ATM and DNA-PK are key regulators of the cell cycle and are involved in checkpoint activation (<u>Lisby et al 2004</u>, <u>Zhou and Elledge 2000</u>), so they may play a large role in protecting beta-cells.

Although our study was not done in beta-cells, we show that disrupted DNA damage signaling in adipocytes causes incomplete differentiation and decreased lipid accumulation, both factors which contribute to type 2 diabetes and metabolic dysfunctions (Alves et al 2010, Guilherme, et al. 2008, Ravussin and Smith 2002, Scherer 2006). Furthermore, phosphorylation of histone 2A, a common marker of DNA damage, is greatest in differentiated adipocytes (See Figure 15: DNA damage in adipocytes), suggesting that the DNA damage response may play a necessary role during adipogenesis (Meulle, et al. 2008).

# CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECT OF SELENIUM SPECIES ON ADIPOGENESIS IS ORCHESTRATED BY OXIDATIVE STRESS AND INVOLVES DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE PROTEINS

#### Abstract

We have shown that the DNA damage response proteins ATM and DNA- PK<sub>cs</sub>, members of the PI(3)K family of serine/threonine kinases, are activated in response to oxidative stress in normal human fibroblasts. This protein family is implicated in insulinstimulated glucose uptake. We manipulated the differentiation of murine 3T3-L1 preadipocytes and mouse embryonic fibroblasts employing chemical inhibitors of ATM and DNA- PK<sub>cs</sub> exposed to pharmacological levels of insulin. We also tracked the phosphorylation patterns of ATM and DNA- PK<sub>cs</sub> after selenium treatment to examine DNA damage responses in adipocytes. ATM and DNA- PK<sub>cs</sub> were both activated in response to selenium treatments in differentiated adipocytes. Taken together, selenium's involvement in adipogenesis is dependent on oxidative stress pathways that may be mediated by DNA damage response proteins.

## Introduction

Obesity is a worldwide concern, especially in the westernized world. Molecular studies done to elucidate the pathways that lead to and maintain obesity have yet to provide concrete evidence to support any treatment regarding the rise in obesity. One of obvious

targets for obesity prevention and treatment is adipocyte differentiation; the process by which precursor cells become committed specialized cells that store triglycerides. Obesity is not only a burden financially, emotionally and socially; it predisposes individuals to a range of health problems, such as diabetes and metabolic syndrome. The loss of glucose homeostasis is the hallmark of diabetes mellitus, a metabolic disease caused by impaired tissue responsiveness to insulin or by decreased pancreatic insulin secretion.

Selenium can act as an insulin mimetic (Ezaki 1990, Heart and Sung 2001, Heart and Sung 2003, Hwang et al 2007). Most diabetics have elevated serum selenium. (Bleys et al 2007a, Bleys et al 2007b, Ezaki 1990). However, selenium pretreatment protects hepatocytes against damage from drug-induced diabetes in rats (Can et al 2005). The only irrefutable evidence in the literature about selenium's relationship with diabetes is that high selenium status is positively associated with diabetes, with the exception of pregnant women (Farhat et al 1993, Farhat et al 1995, Tan et al 2001). Selenium supplements are not recommended for the prevention of diabetes.

Murine 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cells are one of the most commonly used models to study obesity, metabolic disease and diabetes. Confluent 3T3-L1 preadipocytes differentiate to adipocytes in the presence of insulin, dexamethasone and isobutylmethylxanthine. We hypothesized that selenium treatment will alter adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, possibly via the ATM-DNA-PK-ROS pathway characterized in Chapter 2.

# Methods

#### <u>Cell lines and maintenance</u>

Cells were grown. Murine 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (CL173) were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA) and cultured in Dulbecco's minimum essential medium (DMEM) (GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA) as previously reported (<u>Rocourt</u>, <u>et al. 2013</u>, <u>Zhang</u>, <u>et al. 2011</u>). The media was supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (GibcoBRL) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (GibcoBRL) and were maintained in a 37° C humidified atmosphere in either 20% oxygen.

#### Adipocyte differentiation

Adipogenesis was induced by using media (Hemati, et al. 1997) supplemented with 10% FBS DMEM. The media was then supplemented with the hormonal proadipogenic cocktail of 166 nM insulin dissolved in 0.02 M HCl, 0.5 mM 3-isobutyl-1-methyl-xanthine (IBMX) dissolved in 0.5N potassium hydroxide (KOH) and 1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone (Dex) dissolved in ethanol to cells that were two days past 100% confluency (designated Day 0). After two days, the MDI media was refreshed for 1 day and then the cells were maintained in insulin media (166 nM insulin in 10% FBS DMEM) until used for experiments, typically on day 12~15 (See Figure 1: Timeline of Adipocyte Differentiation).

#### **Treatments**

For differentiation and immunofluorescence assays, 3T3-L1 cells were treated with, without or in combination with the following chemicals; 2  $\mu$ M sodium selenite (Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub>) in PBS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 2  $\mu$ M methylseleninic acid, 95% (MSeA) in PBS (Sigma), 10  $\mu$ M NU 7026 in DMSO (Tocris, Ellisville, MO), 10  $\mu$ M KU 55933 in DMSO

(Tocris), 500  $\mu$ M paraquat in double distilled water (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM hydroxyurea (HU) in double distilled water (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA). All chemicals were added to cell culture for the indicated times and at the indicated concentrations and incubated at 37 °C. Please refer to the appendix for more detailed information.

#### Oil-Red-O staining

Oil-Red-O (ORO) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri) staining was conducted, as previously described (Ramirez-Zacarias, et al. 1992, Ross, et al. 1999, Ross, et al. 2000, van Goor, et al. 1986) with little modification, in order to determine lipid accumulation. Dye preparation: 0.5 g of ORO was dissolved in 250 mL isopropanol to form a stock solution. 30 minutes before staining, 20 mL of deionized water was added to 30 mL of the stock solution to make the working solution, and then put on stir plate at 50° C until adipocyte staining. Cell staining: Adherent cells were gently rinsed with phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) then fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 1 h, washed with 1x PBS then refixed with 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 2-3 days. After fixation, the cells were rinsed with 1x PBS followed by 60% isopropyl alcohol, which was added and allowed to evaporate. The cells were then stained with the ORO working solution for 10 min. Plates were rinsed 3x with tap water and allowed to dry. Photographs were taken, and cells were subsequently analyzed as described below. Quantification of stained cells: Stained cells were counted under a light microscope (40x- 400x magnification) and given a score based on the percent lipid accumulation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%.

#### **Coverslip preparation**

Immunofluorescence analysis was performed as described previously with only minor modification (Nioi, et al. 2007, Rocourt, et al. 2013)\_ENREF\_9. 3T3-L1 cells were seeded on coverslips in 6-well plates at 70% confluency then differentiated and treated as described above. At the end of the experiment, coverslips were rinsed in PBS, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution in PBS for 30 min at room temperature and then washed twice with 1x PBS.

#### Antibody detection

Cells were prepared as described above with minor modifications as follows; after 15 min fixation with a paraformaldehyde solution, the cells were permeabilized with ice-cold methanol for 10 min at  $-20^{\circ}$  C. Next, the cells were permeabilized again for 10 min in 0.3% Triton X-100 and then blocked in 10% normal goat serum / 0.3 M glycine in 1x PBS for 1 h to block non-specific protein-protein interactions. Individual coverslips were hybridized with either of the following antibodies for 1 h at room temperature (RT): phospho-DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 (lot 903801) (1: 250 in BSA, Abcam, and Boston, MA) and phospho-ATM Ser-1981 (lot 20772) (1:250 in BSA, Rockland, Gilbertsville, PA). After incubation with antibodies, the coverslips were washed in 1x PBS, and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit for phospho-DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 and Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated goat anti-mouse for phospho-ATM Ser-1981 both from Invitrogen Molecular Probes, Carlsbad, CA) in BSA (1:200 dilution) for 1 h at RT in the dark. Cells were then washed 3x in 1x PBS and the

coverslips were mounted onto slides that contained a drop of DAPI and were visualized using immunofluorescent microscopy.

#### Quantification of antibody data

Immunostaining was visualized using the 63x oil-immersion lens on a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1m (Zeiss, Thornwood, NY) and analysis was performed as described (Rocourt, et al. 2013, Wu, et al. 2010). A z-stack of 10 photos was taken of three random areas on each cover slip using the appropriate channels (DAPI, GFP and DsRed). Images were obtained using the same parameters of brightness, contrast and exposure time and were processed using the deconvolution function of the software AxioVision Release 4.7.2.0.

#### **Statistics**

All the experiments were independently performed and repeated three times. We defined the control as differentiated 3T3-L1 or MEF cells, induced to undergo adipogenesis as described above unless stated otherwise in the text. The data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software version 5.04 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, California). Two tailed, one- sample t-tests were applied to determine statistical significance (\*, p<0.05) between treatments.

# **Results**

#### Selenium speciation differentially effects lipid accumulation

In order to investigate the suspected insulin-mimetic effect of selenium (Heart and Sung 2003, Xu et al 2011) on adipocyte differentiation and lipid accumulation, cells were treated with  $2 \mu M$  methylseleninic acid (MSeA) or  $2 \mu M$  sodium selenite (Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub>) during

the differentiation process (See Figure 1: Timeline of Adipocyte Differentiation for timeline and day designation).

Interestingly, the amount of lipid accumulation and adipocyte differentiation were found to be dependent on the selenium species used. We found that Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> treatment decreased lipid accumulation when added at the initiation of hormone induction (See Figure 19: Sodium selenite treatment decreases lipid accumulation when added at the start of adipogenesis ) and that MSeA treatment slightly increased 3T3-L1 differentiation when added at the start of adipogenesis, as well as when added after the initial hormone exposure period (See Figure 20: Methylseleninic acid promotes lipid accumulation).

Furthermore, both species of selenium elicited maximal effects on lipid accumulation when they were added after the standard hormonal induction period. This response indicates that the insulin-mimetic effect of selenium is observed only following the commitment to adipocyte lineage. Therefore, the effects of selenium treatment during adipocyte differentiation are likely explained by properties of selenium that are not related to its role in insulin signaling or glucose metabolism.



# Figure 19: Sodium selenite treatment decreases lipid accumulation when added at the start of adipogenesis

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated and treated with Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub>, (2 µM in PBS, continuous treatment beginning either on day 0 or 3 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells).



# Figure 20: Methylseleninic acid promotes lipid accumulation throughout adipogenesis

3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated and treated with methylseleninic acid, (2  $\mu$ M in PBS, continuous treatment beginning either on day 0 or 3 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells).

#### The role of DNA damage kinases in a selenium treated adipocyte model

Because of the unique observations that lipid accumulation is dependent on the DNA damage kinases ATM and DNA-PK, and that selenium species affects lipid accumulation during adipogenesis, we aimed to determine whether this response to selenium species occurs via the ATM or DNA-PK pathways. To address this question, the kinase activity of ATM and DNA-PK in 3T3-L1 cells were chemically inhibited using the commercially available inhibitors KU 55933 for ATM inhibition and NU 7026 for DNA-PK inhibition. The cells were then challenged with sodium selenite and lipid accumulation measured by ORO staining.

Sodium selenite treatment significantly reduced lipid accumulation in cells treated with the ATM inhibitor (See Figure 21: Sodium selenite further decreases lipid accumulation in ATM inhibited cells). Sodium selenite reduced lipid accumulation in cells that have had DNA-PK inhibited, although analysis revealed the observation was not statistically significant (See

Figure 22: Sodium selenite slightly reduces lipid accumulation in DNA-PK inhibited cells). Taken together, these results suggest that the effect of sodium selenite on lipid accumulation occurs through an ATM-dependent pathway, with ATM located upstream of DNA-PK in mediating the cellular response to sodium selenite.



# Figure 21: Sodium selenite further decreases lipid accumulation in ATM inhibited cells

Differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were treated with the ATM inhibitor, KU 55933, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M in PBS; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells with ATM chemically inhibited).



# Figure 22: Sodium selenite slightly reduces lipid accumulation in DNA-PK inhibited cells

Differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were treated with the DNA-PK inhibitor, NU 7026, (10  $\mu$ M in DMSO; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M in PBS; 48 h treatment started day 0 of adipogenesis) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells).

# <u>Selenium species restores lipid accumulation in cells challenged with known DNA</u> <u>stressors</u>

Cells treated with paraquat (500  $\mu$ M, 48 h) during differentiation failed to survive. We suspect that the cause of death of these cells (apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy etc.) was most likely due to the high oxidative stress burden. When cells were co-treated with sodium selenite, there were no effects on lipid accumulation and cell survival. However, when cells were exposed to methylseleninic acid, we were able to prevent cell death and restore lipid accumulation (See Figure 23: Methylseleninic acid, but not sodium selenite, restores lipid accumulation in paraquat treated cells).

The treatment of cells with HU (1 mM, 48 h) treatment decreased lipid accumulation, which in *in vivo* models, is a unifying symptom for lipid dystrophies. HU treated adipocytes co-treated with either sodium selenite or methylseleninic acid promoted an increase in lipid accumulation (See Figure 24: Selenium reverses the effect of hydroxyurea on adipogenesis), confirming the role of selenium in restoring lipid accumulation in cells challenged with DNA stressors.



# Figure 23: Methylseleninic acid, but not sodium selenite, restores lipid accumulation in paraquat treated cells

Differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were treated for 48 h starting at day 0 of adipogenesis with the ROS generator paraquat (500  $\mu$ M in dd H<sub>2</sub>O), Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M in PBS), MSeA (2  $\mu$ M in PBS) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O saturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated only).



# Figure 24: Selenium reverses the effect of hydroxyurea on adipogenesis

Differentiated 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were treated for 48 h starting at day 0 of adipogenesis with the replication stress inducer hydroxyurea (HU) (1 mM in dd H<sub>2</sub>O), Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M in PBS), MSeA (2  $\mu$ M in PBS) and cultured in 20% oxygen. Lipid accumulation was determined by Oil-Red-O staining and analyzed using a light microscope (400x). Each treatment was given a score based on the percent Oil-Red-O staturation when compared to the differentiated control, which we designated to be 100%. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated with hydroxyurea only).

#### The role of the selenium induced DNA damage response during adipogenesis

In order to determine the activation of the ATM kinase during adipogenesis, ATM kinase activation was assessed. We measured the anti-pATM Ser-1981 antibody, and DNA-PK activation, as indicated by the anti-pDNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 antibody. The latter phosphorylation site was selected because it is known to be downstream of ATM in the DNA damage response (<u>Chen et al 2007</u>). Phosphorylation at Thr-2647 is required for cellular resistance to radiation (<u>Soubeyrand et al 2003</u>) and promotes the repair of DNA double strand breaks by the NHEJ pathway (<u>Povirk et al 2007</u>).

The acid and salt forms of selenium activated pATM Ser-1981 (See Figure 25: Selenium treatment is a potent activator of the ATM kinase during adipogenesis) but not pDNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 (See Figure 26: Selenium induced phosphorylation of DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> at Thr-2647 is downstream of ATM kinase). However, sodium selenite treatment results in statistically significant increased phosphorylation of ATM at Ser-1981 than methylseleninic acid treatment. These results were expected based on the metabolism and metabolites of both forms of selenium.



# Figure 25: Selenium treatment is a potent activator of the ATM kinase during adipogenesis

Cells were treated with, without or in combination with KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M), Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M) or MSeA (2  $\mu$ M) at the time of induction with MDI media. Cells were maintained in insulin media for five days, then fixed, probed for total ATM and pATM Ser-1981 and then visualized using AxioVision software. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with KU 55933 only.



# Figure 26: Selenium induced phosphorylation of DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> at Thr-2647 is downstream of ATM kinase

Cells were treated with, without or in combination with KU 55933 (10  $\mu$ M), Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2  $\mu$ M) or MSeA (2  $\mu$ M) at the time of induction with MDI media. Cells were maintained in insulin media for five days, then fixed, probed for total DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> and *p*DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 and then visualized using AxioVision software. Values are means ± S.E.M. (n= 3; \* denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, # denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> only, & denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA, and \$ denotes significance (p<0.05) as compared to differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with MSeA.

#### Discussion

Selenium has both insulin (Ezaki 1990) and non-insulin (Heart and Sung 2003) like actions in adipocytes. These help to explain this process on a molecular level and could account for the protective effect of selenium in diabetic animals. Selenium has altered function and status in disease states; particularly diabetes (Ammar et al 2004, Ayaz et al 2002, Ayaz et al 2004, Ayaz and Turan 2006, Battell et al 1998, Bleys, et al. 2007b, Brajovic et al 1987, Can, et al. 2005, Douillet et al 1996, He et al 2009, Kilinc et al 2008, Laclaustra et al 2009, Marcason 2008, Mueller et al 2009, Sheng et al 2004, Soska and Kunert 2004, Stranges et al 2007, Vinceti et al 2009, Yadav et al 1991), cardiovascular disease (Agbor et al 2007, Laclaustra, et al. 2009, Rajpathak et al 2005, Soska and Kunert 2004, Toyran et al 2005, Turan et al 2005) and obesity (Douillet et al 1998, Gjorup et al 1988, Kanarek and Aprille 1986, Maquoi et al 2002, McClung et al 2004).

The results of the study agree with others in the literature who have found that selenium is an insulin mimetic (Ezaki 1990). However, we go further and show that selenium speciation is a critical factor in the insulin promoting effect of selenium. Both forms of selenium preferentially targeted sites on ATM as opposed to DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub>. In addition, sodium selenite was more potent than the acid form of selenium in stimulating phosphorylation of ATM at Ser-1981 and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> at Thr-2647. We hypothesized that, because sodium selenite is more effective in generating ROS than the acid form, more sites were activated.

Paraquat, a herbicide, is an inducer of ROS and is a known toxicant (<u>Ali et al 1996</u>, <u>Ross et al 1979</u>). The damage from paraquat toxicity is processed via the selenium requiring enzyme glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) (<u>Cheng et al 1998</u>). Mice that have

homozygous null mutations for GPX1 have a higher susceptibility to paraquat (<u>de Haan et</u> <u>al 1998</u>). We hypothesized that selenium may have beneficial effects on lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells that were exposed to DNA stressors, such as paraquat or hydroxyurea (HU), because of the protective role of selenium in antioxidant defenses that guard against genome instability.

HU inhibits DNA synthesis and cellular proliferation but does not inhibit protein or RNA synthesis (Sinclair 1965, Young and Hodas 1964). Specifically, HU is a ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor (Elford 1968) that has antineoplastic properties, making it a popular chemotherapy drug (Nocentini 1996, Shao et al 2006). HU is a widely used reagent in studies investigating DNA damage response due to its ability to stall DNA replication by depleting cellular deoxyribonucleotide pools (Reichard 1988). This depletion activates the DNA damage response (Lisby, et al. 2004, Zhou and Elledge 2000). Interestingly, HU can induce both gene expression and synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (Navarra et al 1997). Both cytokines are known to be increased during obesity related complications (Trayhurn and Wood 2004).

We were able to reverse the effects of HU on adipocyte differentiation. We found that when we treated preadipocytes with HU on induction day there was a significant decrease in differentiation. When we co-treated the cells with both forms of selenium we rescued the cells and a larger percentage of preadipocytes became mature adipocytes.

HU is a popular treatment for sickle cell disease because it inhibits the polymerization of sickle hemoglobin by increasing the synthesis of fetal hemoglobin and can prolong the lifespan of the individual (<u>Charache 1997</u>, <u>Steinberg et al 2003</u>). HU treatment increases the expression of the selenium containing GPX1 enzyme in a p53 dependent manner (<u>Cho</u>
et al 2010). Increased GPX1 could possibly explain the effectiveness of HU in sickle cell patients. This suggests that HU may have a direct interaction with selenium, supporting our data that shows an interaction between selenium and HU.

We showed that there is a significant increase in lipid accumulation in HU treated cells following selenium treatment. This data, and the similar findings from the paraquat treated cells, suggest that selenium co-treatment could reverse or decrease lipodystrophies and cachexia that commonly occur because of medications used to treat chronic diseases such as sickle cell, cancer, AIDS and other wasting diseases. These results could also support the fact that supranutritional levels of selenium could reverse HU's intended effects and render it useless for chemotherapy patients.

In the future, we hope to describe the mechanism of selenium and DNA damage response in the differentiation of adipocytes and elucidate how these things affect the bigger picture of metabolic disease, diabetes and obesity.

#### **CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS**

#### Summation of Objectives

The first objective was to understand if ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibition have an effect on adipocyte integrity during adipogenesis and throughout the lifespan of the adipocyte. This objective was met by confirming the role of ATM and DNA-PK kinase activity during adipogenesis and by demonstrating that their role was directly dependent on intracellular ROS levels.

The second objective was to understand how ATM and DNA-PK maintain adipocyte and preadipocyte integrity by preventing some of the associated senescent properties of damaged cells. We have found that inhibition of ATM and DNA-PK kinase activity causes a senescent-like phenotype in preadipocytes.

We believe the senescent preadipocyte is the foundation for the impaired adipogenesis and unusual adipocyte phenotype we see after stimulation of adipogenesis in cells that have ATM and DNA-PK inhibited. We propose that ATM and DNA-PK inhibition in preadipocytes causes cellular senescence and prevents the cells from undergoing complete adipogenesis, even after the standard pro-adipogenic hormonal treatment (See Figure 1: Timeline of Adipocyte Differentiation).

It is possible that by inhibiting ATM and DNA-PK in preadipocytes, we have induced senescence and consequently created a model for studying adipocyte dysfunction. Our study can help comprehend how adipocyte dysfunction is triggered and maintained, and therefore, we can speculate on potential therapeutic targets to reverse or mitigate the consequences of adipocyte dysfunction, which would help address and treat the comorbidities associated with obesity.

Furthermore, we propose a ROS-driven hypothesis of how ATM and DNA-PK inhibition contribute to dysfunctional adipocytes. After inhibiting enzymes that respond to and regulate ROS, what we believe we have done is induced a preadipocyte environment with high/discordant oxidative stress levels. Our studies suggest that if increased ROS in dysfunctional adipocytes can be regulated, the consequences of adipose tissue dysfunction can be prevented or treated.

The third objective was to understand how nutrients could affect adipogenesis, particularly by using selenium to manipulate the ROS-ATM-DNA-PK dependent adipogenic pathway. Interestingly, it was found that selenium speciation was a key factor in altering lipid accumulation, most likely due to differences in redox potentials of selenium metabolites. Therefore, adding more complexity to weight maintenance theories that rely on strict calorimetery rules.

#### Significance

Obesity is a worldwide health epidemic that contributes to and exacerbates many disease states (See Metabolic Dysfunctions). Current treatment strategies for treating obesity and its complications have failed. Understanding normal adipose tissue metabolism, physiology and differentiation could be a foundation for obesity research and a cornerstone to develop therapeutic interventions. We believe that there is a critical gap in our knowledge of how dysfunctional adipocytes are propagated (See Mechanisms of Metabolic Dysfunction). By understanding adipocyte dysfunction, treatment of obesity-

induced disease states might be possible. The work summarized in this dissertation is presented in the hope to be able to help guide current therapeutic strategies and identify molecular targets for the treatments of the comorbidities of obesity.

Often times in obese individuals, particularly those with metabolic diseases, there is increased oxidative DNA damage (<u>Al-Aubaidy and Jelinek 2011</u>) which may lead to genomic instability (<u>Ahima 2009</u>), thus perpetuating the chronic disease cycle. This inflammatory state might directly affect beta-cell homeostasis and disrupt self-replication, causing hyper- and hypoplasia of beta-cells thereby driving the type 2 diabetic phenotype. In our research, we believe dysfunctional preadipocytes, perhaps caused by these cytokines, activate the innate immune system creating the subclinical inflammatory response indicative of type 2 diabetes, that go on to induce insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (See Figure 27: Conceptual Model).

Our research further elucidates the management of oxidative stress as a key factor to maintain adipocyte tissue homeostasis in order to prevent metabolic dysfunctions. Further research is required to elucidate the mechanisms by which adipocytes maintain homeostasis within the body and whether adipose disequilibrium causes or contributes to dysfunction, senescence, tissue remodeling or a combination of these within the adipocyte.



## **Figure 27: Conceptual Model**

The ROS- ATM- DNA-PK pathway as a missing link in unifying the systemic effects of dysfunctional adipocyte.

Adipocyte dysfunction includes increased lipolysis, impairment of triglyceride storage and increased cytokine production (Coppack 2001). All of these are linked to insulin resistance (de Heredia et al 2012). It is clear that there is an excess production of IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  in type 2 diabetes. However, the origins, order of events, and molecular mechanisms linking these cytokines to type 2 diabetes are not well understood or defined. IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  stimulate the production of acute phase proteins (James, et al. 2001, Ogden, et al. 2006) that then cause inflammation. Since inflammation is a common facet that most metabolic diseases related to obesity share (Candore et al 2010, Emanuela et al 2012, Fuentes et al 2013, Kitade et al 2012, Sun, et al. 2012, Ye 2013), understanding how cytokines promote immune system imbalance is critical in the prevention and treatment of the comorbidities of obesity.

We have attempted to elucidate how obesity can promote conditions that favor chronic disease on the molecular level by studying DNA damage response proteins in adipocytes. The work summarized here represents the initial investigation of the roles of ATM and DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> in the formation and maintenance of adipocytes. In particular, we show that maintenance of oxidative tone via the ATM and DNA-PK pathway is necessary to promote lipid accumulation in adipocytes. Moreover, our work helps to explain the importance of balancing oxidative stress in order to maintain normal adipose tissue function and thus stifle the onset or progression of some of the comorbidities of obesity (See Linking Metabolic Derangements to Adipocytes). These findings portray a novel approach to addressing the comorbidities of obesity and attempt to provide insight that could improve the quality of life for overweight and obese individuals and to help understand the evolution of chronic diseases.

## APPENDIX

### **Cell Culture Reagents**

- 1% penicillin/streptomycin (GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# 15140148)
- IBMX (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# I-7018)
- Dex (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# D-4902)
- DMEM (GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# 11965-084)
- FBS (GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# 10099-141)
- Insulin (Bovine; Sigma-Aldrich St. Louis, MO, Cat# I-5500)
- Pen/Strep/Glutamine (100x P/S/G; GibcoBRL, Carlsbad, CA, Cat#10378-016)

#### **Cell Culture Chemicals and Treatments**

- Caffeine (2 mM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# 485635)
- DMSO (Vehicle, Sigma- Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# 472301)
- H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (10 µM, Sigma- Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# 216763)
- HU (1mM, MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA, Cat# 0210202301)
- KU 55933 (10 µM, Tocris, Ellisville, MO, Cat# 3544)
- MSeA (2 µM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO Cat# 541281)
- Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> (2 µM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO Cat# S9133)
- NAC (10 mM, Sigma- Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# A-7250)
- NU 7026 (10 µM, Tocris, Ellisville, MO, Cat# 2828)
- Paraquat (500 µM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO Cat# 36541)
- TEMPO (1 mM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# 214000)
- Wortmannin (200 µM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# 95455)

## **Experimental Reagents**

- Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1: 200 in BSA, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# A11008)
- Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (1: 200 in BSA, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# A11005)
- CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA (10 µM in PBS, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California, Cat# C6827)
- HCS LipidTOX<sup>™</sup> (Green neutral lipid stain 1: 100 in BSA, Invitrogen Molecular Probes Inc., Carlsbad, CA, Cat# H34475)
- ORO (0.5 g dissolved in 250 mL isopropanol, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Cat# O0625-100G)
- *p*ATM Ser-1981, phospho-ATM at Ser-1981
- *p*DNA-PK<sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647 Antibody (lot # 903801) (1:200 in BSA, Abcam, Boston, MA, Cat# ab61045)
- Perilipin D418 Antibody (1: 200 in BSA, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, Cat# 3470)
- Prolong® Gold mounting media containing 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (Prolong® Gold mounting media containing DAPI or DAPI) (1 drop, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, Cat# P36930)
- Senescence-associated β-galactosidase kit (SA- β-gal) (Biovision, Milpitas, CA, Cat# k320-620)
- γH2A.X at Serine 139 Antibody (γH2A.X) (lot 41665603, Abcam, Boston, MA, Cat# ab2893)

# Table 1: Cell culture reagents

Chemical	Company	Catalog Number	Treatment Concentration	<b>Treatment Duration</b>
Alexa Fluor® Anti- Mouse	Invitrogen	A11005	1:200	1 h, RT
Alexa Fluor® Anti- Rabbit	Invitrogen	A11008	1:200	1 h, RT
Caffeine	Sigma	485635	2 mM	48 h
DAPI Prolong® Gold	Invitrogen	P36930	1 drop	
Dexamethasone	Sigma	D-4902	1 µM	48 h
IBMX	Sigma	I-7018	0.5 mM	48 h
Insulin	Sigma	I-5500	166 nm (1 μg/mL)	48 h as induction media, then constant when used for adipocyte maintenance
KU 55933	Tocris	3544	10 µM	48 h
LipidTOX	Invitrogen	H34475	1:100	1 h, RT
NAC	Sigma	A-7250	10 mM	48 h
NU 7026	Tocris	2828	10 µM	48 h
<i>p</i> DNA-PK <sub>cs</sub> Thr-2647	Abcam	ab61045	1:200	Overnight 4° C
Perilipin D418	Cell Signaling	3470	1:200	1 h, RT
ТЕМРО	Sigma	214000	1 mM	48 h
Wortmannin	Sigma	95455	200 µM	48 h
γH2A.X at Serine 139	Abcam	ab2893	1:250	1 h, RT

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abate N. 2012. Adipocyte maturation arrest: a determinant of systemic insulin resistance to glucose disposal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 97(3): 760-763.
- Abraham NG, Brunner EJ, Eriksson JW, Robertson RP. 2007. Metabolic syndrome: psychosocial, neuroendocrine, and classical risk factors in type 2 diabetes. *Ann* NY Acad Sci. 1113: 256-275.
- Adler V, Yin Z, Tew KD, Ronai Z. 1999. Role of redox potential and reactive oxygen species in stress signaling. *Oncogene*. 18(45): 6104-6111.
- Agbor GA, Vinson JA, Patel S, Patel K, Scarpati J, et al. 2007. Effect of selenium- and glutathione-enriched yeast supplementation on a combined atherosclerosis and diabetes hamster model. *J Agric Food Chem.* 55(21): 8731-8736.
- Ahima RS. 2006. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 14 Suppl 5: 2428-249S.
- Ahima RS. 2009. Connecting obesity, aging and diabetes. *Nat Med.* 15(9): 996-997.
- Ahima RS, Lazar MA. 2013. Physiology. The health risk of obesity--better metrics imperative. *Science*. 341(6148): 856-858.
- Ailhaud G, Amri E, Bardon S, Barcellini-Couget S, Bertrand B, et al. 1990. **The adipocyte:** relationships between proliferation and adipose cell differentiation. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 142(6 *Pt 2*): S57-59.
- Al-Aubaidy HA, Jelinek HF. 2011. Oxidative DNA damage and obesity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Endocrinol*. 164(6): 899-904.

- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. 1998. **Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes** mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med.* 15(7): 539-553.
- Alexander A, Walker CL. 2010. Differential localization of ATM is correlated with activation of distinct downstream signaling pathways. *Cell Cycle*. 9(18): 3685-3686.
- Ali S, Jain SK, Abdulla M, Athar M. 1996. **Paraquat induced DNA damage by reactive oxygen species**. *Biochem Mol Biol Int*. 39(1): 63-67.
- Allison DB, Fontaine KR, Manson JE, Stevens J, VanItallie TB. 1999. Annual deaths attributable to obesity in the United States. *JAMA*. 282(16): 1530-1538.
- Alves H, Munoz-Najar U, De Wit J, Renard AJ, Hoeijmakers JH, et al. 2010. A link between the accumulation of DNA damage and loss of multi-potency of human mesenchymal stromal cells. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*. 14(12): 2729-2738.
- Ammar EM, Gameil NM, Issa LA, Nader MA. 2004. Biopharmacological effects of Largenine, selenium and alpha-tocopherol on chemical diabetes in rats. Drug Metabolism Reviews. 36: 221-221.
- An J, Huang YC, Xu QZ, Zhou LJ, Shang ZF, et al. 2010. DNA-PKcs plays a dominant role in the regulation of H2AX phosphorylation in response to DNA damage and cell cycle progression. *BMC Mol Biol.* 11: 18.
- Andrisse S, Patel GD, Chen JE, Webber AM, Spears LD, et al. 2013. ATM and GLUT1-S490 phosphorylation regulate GLUT1 mediated transport in skeletal muscle. *PLoS One.* 8(6): e66027.
- Armata HL, Golebiowski D, Jung DY, Ko HJ, Kim JK, Sluss HK. 2010. Requirement of the ATM/p53 tumor suppressor pathway for glucose homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol.* 30(24): 5787-5794.

- Arner P, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Possnert G, Liebl J, et al. 2011. Dynamics of human adipose lipid turnover in health and metabolic disease. *Nature*. 478(7367): 110-113.
- Ayaz M, Can B, Ozdemir S, Turan B. 2002. Protective effect of selenium treatment on diabetes-induced myocardial structural alterations. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 89(3): 215-226.
- Ayaz M, Ozdemir S, Ugur M, Vassort G, Turan B. 2004. Effects of selenium on altered mechanical and electrical cardiac activities of diabetic rat. Arch Biochem Biophys. 426(1): 83-90.
- Ayaz M, Turan B. 2006. Selenium prevents diabetes-induced alterations in [Zn2+]i and metallothionein level of rat heart via restoration of cell redox cycle. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 290(3): H1071-1080.
- Baker DJ, Wijshake T, Tchkonia T, LeBrasseur NK, Childs BG, et al. 2011. Clearance of p16Ink4a-positive senescent cells delays ageing-associated disorders. *Nature*. 479(7372): 232-236.
- Bar RS, Levis WR, Rechler MM, Harrison LC, Siebert C, et al. 1978. Extreme insulin resistance in ataxia telangiectasia: defect in affinity of insulin receptors. *N Engl J Med.* 298(21): 1164-1171.
- Battell ML, Delgatty HL, McNeill JH. 1998. Sodium selenate corrects glucose tolerance and heart function in STZ diabetic rats. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 179(1-2): 27-34.
- Beltowski J. 2003. Adiponectin and resistin--new hormones of white adipose tissue. Med Sci Monit. 9(2): RA55-61.
- Bensellam M, Laybutt DR, Jonas JC. 2012. The molecular mechanisms of pancreatic beta-cell glucotoxicity: recent findings and future research directions. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 364(1-2): 1-27.
- Berg AH, Combs TP, Scherer PE. 2002. ACRP30/adiponectin: an adipokine regulating glucose and lipid metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 13(2): 84-89.

- Bergamini CM, Gambetti S, Dondi A, Cervellati C. 2004. Oxygen, reactive oxygen species and tissue damage. *Curr Pharm Des.* 10(14): 1611-1626.
- Berkemeyer S. 2010. The straight line hypothesis elaborated: case reference obesity, an argument for acidosis, oxidative stress, and disease conglomeration? *Med Hypotheses*. 75(1): 59-64.
- Berkers CR, Maddocks OD, Cheung EC, Mor I, Vousden KH. 2013. Metabolic Regulation by p53 Family Members. *Cell Metab.* 18(5): 617-633.
- Berthiaume M, Sell H, Lalonde J, Gelinas Y, Tchernof A, et al. 2004. Actions of PPARgamma agonism on adipose tissue remodeling, insulin sensitivity, and lipemia in absence of glucocorticoids. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 287(5): R1116-1123.
- Blagosklonny MV. 2011. **Cell cycle arrest is not senescence**. *Aging (Albany NY)*. 3(2): 94-101.
- Blevins LS, Jr., Gebhart SS. 1996. Insulin-resistant diabetes mellitus in a black woman with ataxia-telangiectasia. *South Med J.* 89(6): 619-621.
- Bleys J, Navas-Acien A, Guallar E. 2007a. Selenium and diabetes: more bad news for supplements. Ann Intern Med. 147(4): 271-272.
- Bleys J, Navas-Acien A, Guallar E. 2007b. Serum selenium and diabetes in U.S. adults. *Diabetes Care*. 30(4): 829-834.
- Block G, Dietrich M, Norkus EP, Morrow JD, Hudes M, et al. 2002. Factors associated with oxidative stress in human populations. *Am J Epidemiol*. 156(3): 274-285.
- Boehrs JK, He J, Halaby MJ, Yang DQ. 2007. Constitutive expression and cytoplasmic compartmentalization of ATM protein in differentiated human neuron-like SH-SY5Y cells. *J Neurochem*. 100(2): 337-345.

- Bondia-Pons I, Ryan L, Martinez JA. 2012. Oxidative stress and inflammation interactions in human obesity. J Physiol Biochem. 68(4): 701-711.
- Bonnet F, Gosselin L, Chantraine J, Senterre J. 1970. Adipose cell number and size in normal and obese children. *Rev Eur Etud Clin Biol.* 15(10): 1101-1104.
- Boroumand M, Miller DS, Wise A. 1980. The relative importance of genetics and diet in determining adipocyte number and size in the periovarian fat pad of the rat. Int J Obes. 4(1): 21-25.
- Bouquet F, Ousset M, Biard D, Fallone F, Dauvillier S, et al. 2011. A DNA-dependent stress response involving DNA-PK occurs in hypoxic cells and contributes to cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *J Cell Sci.* 124(*Pt 11*): 1943-1951.
- Bourlier V, Sengenes C, Zakaroff-Girard A, Decaunes P, Wdziekonski B, et al. 2012. TGFbeta family members are key mediators in the induction of myofibroblast phenotype of human adipose tissue progenitor cells by macrophages. *PLoS One.* 7(2): e31274.
- Bourlier V, Zakaroff-Girard A, Miranville A, De Barros S, Maumus M, et al. 2008. **Remodeling phenotype of human subcutaneous adipose tissue macrophages**. *Circulation*. 117(6): 806-815.
- Brajovic P, Vonschenck H, Arnqvist H. 1987. Normal Selenium in Serum in Type-I Diabetes-Mellitus. *Acta Endocrinologica*. 115: 7-7.
- Brasaemle DL. 2007. Thematic review series: adipocyte biology. The perilipin family of structural lipid droplet proteins: stabilization of lipid droplets and control of lipolysis. J Lipid Res. 48(12): 2547-2559.
- Brun RP, Kim JB, Hu E, Altiok S, Spiegelman BM. 1996. Adipocyte differentiation: a transcriptional regulatory cascade. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 8(6): 826-832.
- Burma S, Chen BP, Chen DJ. 2006. Role of non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) in maintaining genomic integrity. *DNA Repair (Amst).* 5(9-10): 1042-1048.

- Cabiscol E, Tamarit J, Ros J. 2000. Oxidative stress in bacteria and protein damage by reactive oxygen species. *Int Microbiol.* 3(1): 3-8.
- Calabro P, Yeh ET. 2007. Obesity, inflammation, and vascular disease: the role of the adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Subcell Biochem.* 42: 63-91.
- Campisi J. 2011. Cellular senescence: putting the paradoxes in perspective. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* 21(*1*): 107-112.
- Campisi J, d'Adda di Fagagna F. 2007. Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 8(9): 729-740.
- Can B, Ulusu NN, Kilinc K, Leyla Acan N, Saran Y, Turan B. 2005. Selenium treatment protects diabetes-induced biochemical and ultrastructural alterations in liver tissue. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 105(*1-3*): 135-150.
- Cancello R, Clement K. 2006. Is obesity an inflammatory illness? Role of low-grade inflammation and macrophage infiltration in human white adipose tissue. *BJOG*. 113(*10*): 1141-1147.
- Candore G, Caruso C, Jirillo E, Magrone T, Vasto S. 2010. Low grade inflammation as a common pathogenetic denominator in age-related diseases: novel drug targets for anti-ageing strategies and successful ageing achievement. *Curr Pharm Des.* 16(6): 584-596.
- Cannon B, Nedergaard J. 2004. Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol Rev.* 84(1): 277-359.
- Carmean CM, Cohen RN, Brady MJ. 2013. Systemic regulation of adipose metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.06.004(0)
- Carmeliet P, Moons L, Luttun A, Vincenti V, Compernolle V, et al. 2001. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor

**contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions**. *Nature medicine*. 7(5): 575-583.

- Casteilla L, Planat-Benard V, Cousin B, Silvestre JS, Laharrague P, et al. 2005. Plasticity of adipose tissue: a promising therapeutic avenue in the treatment of cardiovascular and blood diseases? *Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss.* 98(9): 922-926.
- Charache S. 1997. Mechanism of action of hydroxyurea in the management of sickle cell anemia in adults. *Semin Hematol.* 34(3 Suppl 3): 15-21.
- Chen BP, Li M, Asaithamby A. 2012. New insights into the roles of ATM and DNA-PKcs in the cellular response to oxidative stress. *Cancer Lett.* 327(1-2): 103-110.
- Chen BP, Uematsu N, Kobayashi J, Lerenthal Y, Krempler A, et al. 2007. Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) is essential for DNA-PKcs phosphorylations at the Thr-2609 cluster upon DNA double strand break. J Biol Chem. 282(9): 6582-6587.
- Cheng W-H, Ho Y-S, Valentine BA, Ross DA, Combs GF, Lei XG. 1998. Cellular glutathione peroxidase is the mediator of body selenium to protect against paraquat lethality in transgenic mice. *The Journal of nutrition*. 128(7): 1070-1076.
- Ching JK, Spears LD, Armon JL, Renth AL, Andrisse S, et al. 2013. Impaired insulinstimulated glucose transport in ATM-deficient mouse skeletal muscle. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* 38(6): 589-596.
- Cho CS, Kato GJ, Yang SH, Bae SW, Lee JS, et al. 2010. Hydroxyurea-induced expression of glutathione peroxidase 1 in red blood cells of individuals with sickle cell anemia. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* 13(1): 1-11.
- Choy L, Derynck R. 2003. Transforming growth factor-beta inhibits adipocyte differentiation by Smad3 interacting with CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) and repressing C/EBP transactivation function. *J Biol Chem.* 278(11): 9609-9619.

- Chumlea WC, Knittle JL, Roche AF, Siervogel RM, Webb P. 1981. Size and number of adipocytes and measures of body fat in boys and girls 10 to 18 years of age. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 34(9): 1791-1797.
- Cildir G, Ak1nc1lar SC, Tergaonkar V. 2013. Chronic adipose tissue inflammation: all immune cells on the stage. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. 19(8): 487-500.
- Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, et al. 2005. Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J Lipid Res. 46(11): 2347-2355.
- Collier CA, Bruce CR, Smith AC, Lopaschuk G, Dyck DJ. 2006. Metformin counters the insulin-induced suppression of fatty acid oxidation and stimulation of triacylglycerol storage in rodent skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 291(1): E182-189.
- Concannon P, Gatti RA. 1997. Diversity of ATM gene mutations detected in patients with ataxia-telangiectasia. *Human Mutation*. 10(2): 100-107.
- Coppack SW. 2001. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipose tissue. Presented at PROCEEDINGS-NUTRITION SOCIETY OF LONDON
- Coppe JP, Desprez PY, Krtolica A, Campisi J. 2010. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 5: 99-118.
- Cousin B, Munoz O, Andre M, Fontanilles AM, Dani C, et al. 1999. A role for preadipocytes as macrophage-like cells. *FASEB J*. 13(2): 305-312.
- Cristancho AG, Lazar MA. 2011. Forming functional fat: a growing understanding of adipocyte differentiation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 12(11): 722-734.
- Cusi K. 2012. Role of obesity and lipotoxicity in the development of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: pathophysiology and clinical implications. *Gastroenterology*. 142(4): 711-725 e716.

- D'Autréaux B, Toledano MB. 2007. ROS as signalling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 8(10): 813-824.
- Dandona P. 2002. Endothelium, inflammation, and diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2(4): 311-315.
- Dandona P, Aljada A. 2002. A rational approach to pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. *Am J Cardiol.* 90(5A): 27G-33G.
- Day C. 1999. Thiazolidinediones: a new class of antidiabetic drugs. *Diabet Med.* 16(3): 179-192.
- de Haan JB, Bladier C, Griffiths P, Kelner M, O'Shea RD, et al. 1998. Mice with a homozygous null mutation for the most abundant glutathione peroxidase, Gpx1, show increased susceptibility to the oxidative stress-inducing agents paraquat and hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 273(35): 22528-22536.
- de Heredia FP, Gomez-Martinez S, Marcos A. 2012. Obesity, inflammation and the immune system. *Proc Nutr Soc.* 71(2): 332-338.
- de Souza CJ, Eckhardt M, Gagen K, Dong M, Chen W, et al. 2001. Effects of pioglitazone on adipose tissue remodeling within the setting of obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 50(8): 1863-1871.
- Ditch S, Paull TT. 2012. The ATM protein kinase and cellular redox signaling: beyond the DNA damage response. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 37(1): 15-22.
- Dolinkova M, Dostalova I, Lacinova Z, Michalsky D, Haluzikova D, et al. 2008. The endocrine profile of subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue of obese patients. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 291(*1*-2): 63-70.

- Donath MY, Dalmas E, Sauter NS, Boni-Schnetzler M. 2013. Inflammation in obesity and diabetes: islet dysfunction and therapeutic opportunity. *Cell Metab.* 17(6): 860-872.
- Douillet C, Bost M, Accominotti M, Borson-Chazot F, Ciavatti M. 1998. Effect of selenium and vitamin E supplements on tissue lipids, peroxides, and fatty acid distribution in experimental diabetes. *Lipids*. 33(4): 393-399.
- Douillet C, Tabib A, Bost M, Accominotti M, Borson-Chazot F, Ciavatti M. 1996. A selenium supplement associated or not with vitamin E delays early renal lesions in experimental diabetes in rats. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 211(4): 323-331.
- Droge W. 2002. Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. *Physiol Rev.* 82(1): 47-95.
- Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Pankow JS, Ballantyne CM, Couper D, et al. 2003. Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Diabetes*. 52(7): 1799-1805.
- Eberle C, Palinski W, Ament C. 2013. A novel mathematical model detecting early individual changes of insulin resistance. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 15(10): 870-880.
- Efrat M, Tepper S, Birk RZ. 2013. From fat cell biology to public health preventive strategies pinpointing the critical period for obesity prevention. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 26(3-4): 197-209.
- Elford HL. 1968. Effect of hydroxyurea on ribonucleotide reductase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 33(1): 129-135.
- Emanuela F, Grazia M, Marco de R, Maria Paola L, Giorgio F, Marco B. 2012. Inflammation as a Link between Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome. J Nutr Metab. 2012: 476380.

- Epel ES, McEwen B, Seeman T, Matthews K, Castellazzo G, et al. 2000. Stress and body shape: stress-induced cortisol secretion is consistently greater among women with central fat. *Psychosom Med.* 62(5): 623-632.
- Erener S, Hesse M, Kostadinova R, Hottiger MO. 2012. Poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase-1 (PARP1) controls adipogenic gene expression and adipocyte function. *Mol Endocrinol.* 26(1): 79-86.
- Ersoy F, Berkel AI, Sanal O, Oktay H. 1991. **Twenty-year follow-up of 160 patients with** ataxia-telangiectasia. *Turk J Pediatr.* 33(4): 205-215.
- Ezaki O. 1990. The insulin-like effects of selenate in rat adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 265(2): 1124-1128.
- Farhat A, Picciano MF, Lammikeefe CJ, Desilva HN. 1993. Evidence for Altered Selenium (Se) Status in Pregnant-Women with Diabetes. Faseb Journal. 7(3): A64-A64.
- Farhat A, Picciano MF, Lammikeefe CJ, Desilva HN. 1995. Evidence for Altered Selenium Status in Pregnant-Women with Diabetes. *Journal of Trace Elements in Experimental Medicine*. 8(1): 29-39.
- Faust IM, Johnson PR, Stern JS, Hirsch J. 1978. Diet-induced adipocyte number increase in adult rats: a new model of obesity. *Am J Physiol.* 235(3): E279-286.
- Fernandez-Sanchez A, Madrigal-Santillan E, Bautista M, Esquivel-Soto J, Morales-Gonzalez A, et al. 2011. Inflammation, oxidative stress, and obesity. Int J Mol Sci. 12(5): 3117-3132.
- Findeisen HM, Pearson KJ, Gizard F, Zhao Y, Qing H, et al. 2011. Oxidative stress accumulates in adipose tissue during aging and inhibits adipogenesis. *PLoS One.* 6(4): e18532.
- Fonseca-Alaniz MH, Takada J, Alonso-Vale MI, Lima FB. 2007. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ: from theory to practice. *J Pediatr (Rio J)*. 83(5 Suppl): S192-203.

- Fuentes E, Fuentes F, Vilahur G, Badimon L, Palomo I. 2013. Mechanisms of chronic state of inflammation as mediators that link obese adipose tissue and metabolic syndrome. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013: 136584.
- Fujimoto T, Parton RG. 2011. Not just fat: the structure and function of the lipid droplet. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 3(3)
- Furukawa S, Fujita T, Shimabukuro M, Iwaki M, Yamada Y, et al. 2004. Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Invest.* 114(*12*): 1752-1761.
- Galic S, Oakhill JS, Steinberg GR. 2010. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 316(2): 129-139.
- Gilbert ER, Liu D. 2012. Epigenetics: the missing link to understanding beta-cell dysfunction in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Epigenetics*. 7(8): 841-852.
- Girousse A, Langin D. 2012. Adipocyte lipases and lipid droplet-associated proteins: insight from transgenic mouse models. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 36(4): 581-594.
- Gjorup I, Gjorup T, Andersen B. 1988. Serum selenium and zinc concentrations in morbid obesity. Comparison of controls and patients with jejunoileal bypass. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* 23(10): 1250-1252.
- Gletsu-Miller N, Hansen JM, Jones DP, Go YM, Torres WE, et al. 2009. Loss of total and visceral adipose tissue mass predicts decreases in oxidative stress after weight-loss surgery. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 17(3): 439-446.
- GoDarts, Group UDPS, Wellcome Trust Case Control C, Zhou K, Bellenguez C, et al. 2011. Common variants near ATM are associated with glycemic response to metformin in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Genet.* 43(2): 117-120.
- Goldstein S. 1990. **Replicative senescence: the human fibroblast comes of age**. *Science*. 249(4973): 1129-1133.

- Granneman JG, Moore HP, Mottillo EP, Zhu Z, Zhou L. 2011. Interactions of perilipin-5 (Plin5) with adipose triglyceride lipase. *J Biol Chem.* 286(7): 5126-5135.
- Greenberg AS, Egan JJ, Wek SA, Garty NB, Blanchette-Mackie EJ, Londos C. 1991. Perilipin, a major hormonally regulated adipocyte-specific phosphoprotein associated with the periphery of lipid storage droplets. J Biol Chem. 266(17): 11341-11346.
- Gregg EW, Cheng YJ, Cadwell BL, Imperatore G, Williams DE, et al. 2005. Secular trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors according to body mass index in US adults. *JAMA*. 293(*15*): 1868-1874.
- Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. 2009. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health.* 9: 88.
- Guilherme A, Virbasius JV, Puri V, Czech MP. 2008. Adipocyte dysfunctions linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 9(5): 367-377.
- Guo Z, Deshpande R, Paull TT. 2010a. **ATM activation in the presence of oxidative** stress. *Cell Cycle*. 9(24): 4805-4811.
- Guo Z, Kozlov S, Lavin MF, Person MD, Paull TT. 2010b. **ATM activation by oxidative** stress. *Science*. 330(6003): 517-521.
- Gutowski M, Kowalczyk S. 2013. A study of free radical chemistry: their role and pathophysiological significance. Acta Biochim Pol. 60(1): 1-16.
- H Gandhi U, P Nagaraja T, Sandeep Prabhu K. 2013. Selenoproteins and their Role in Oxidative Stress and Inflammation. *Current Chemical Biology*. 7(1): 65-73.

- Halaby MJ, Hibma JC, He J, Yang DQ. 2008. **ATM protein kinase mediates full** activation of Akt and regulates glucose transporter 4 translocation by insulin in muscle cells. *Cell Signal*. 20(8): 1555-1563.
- Hallenborg P, Feddersen S, Francoz S, Murano I, Sundekilde U, et al. 2012. Mdm2 controls CREB-dependent transactivation and initiation of adipocyte differentiation. *Cell Death Differ*. 19(8): 1381-1389.
- Hanamoto T, Kajita K, Mori I, Ikeda T, Fujioka K, et al. 2013. The role of small proliferative adipocytes in the development of obesity: comparison between Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rats and non-obese Long-Evans Tokushima Otsuka (LETO) rats. Endocr J. 60(8): 1001-1011.
- Hauner H, Schmid P, Pfeiffer EF. 1987. Glucocorticoids and insulin promote the differentiation of human adipocyte precursor cells into fat cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 64(4): 832-835.
- Havel PJ. 2004. Update on adipocyte hormones: regulation of energy balance and carbohydrate/lipid metabolism. *Diabetes*. 53 Suppl 1(*suppl 1*): S143-151.
- He K, Liu K, Morris SJ, Daviglus ML, Colangelo L, et al. 2009. Longitudinal Association of Toenail Selenium Levels with Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes: 18-Year Followup of the CARDIA Trace Element Study. *Circulation*. 119(10): E300-E300.
- Heart E, Sung CK. 2001. Selenium stimulates glucose transport by activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Diabetes*. 50: A504-A504.
- Heart E, Sung CK. 2003. Insulin-like and non-insulin-like selenium actions in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Cell Biochem. 88(4): 719-731.
- Hemati N, Ross SE, Erickson RL, Groblewski GE, MacDougald OA. 1997. Signaling pathways through which insulin regulates CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha (C/EBPalpha) phosphorylation and gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Correlation with GLUT4 gene expression. J Biol Chem. 272(41): 25913-25919.

- Higuchi M, Dusting GJ, Peshavariya H, Jiang F, Hsiao ST, et al. 2013. Differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into fat involves reactive oxygen species and Forkhead box O1 mediated upregulation of antioxidant enzymes. Stem Cells Dev. 22(6): 878-888.
- Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. 1995. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 95(5): 2409-2415.
- Hou Y, Xue P, Bai Y, Liu D, Woods CG, et al. 2012. Nuclear factor erythroid-derived factor 2-related factor 2 regulates transcription of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta during adipogenesis. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 52(2): 462-472.
- Huang Y, Yang L, Wang J, Yang F, Xiao Y, et al. 2013. **Twelve novel Atm mutations** identified in Chinese ataxia telangiectasia patients. *Neuromolecular Med.* 15(3): 536-540.
- Hwang D, Seo S, Kim Y, Kim C, Shim S, et al. 2007. Selenium acts as an insulin-like molecule for the down-regulation of diabetic symptoms via endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin signalling proteins in diabetes-induced non-obese diabetic mice. J Biosci. 32(4): 723-735.
- Isakson P, Hammarstedt A, Gustafson B, Smith U. 2009. Impaired preadipocyte differentiation in human abdominal obesity: role of Wnt, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and inflammation. *Diabetes*. 58(7): 1550-1557.
- Iyer A, Fairlie DP, Prins JB, Hammock BD, Brown L. 2010. Inflammatory lipid mediators in adipocyte function and obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 6(2): 71-82.
- James PT, Leach R, Kalamara E, Shayeghi M. 2001. The worldwide obesity epidemic. *Obes Res.* 9 Suppl 4: 228S-233S.
- Jo J, Gavrilova O, Pack S, Jou W, Mullen S, et al. 2009. Hypertrophy and/or Hyperplasia: Dynamics of Adipose Tissue Growth. *PLoS Comput Biol.* 5(3): e1000324.

- Kanarek R, Aprille J. 1986. Amelioration of Sucrose-Induced Obesity in Rats Fed Diets with Increased Levels of Zinc, Chromium and Selenium. *Federation Proceedings*. 45(3): 351-351.
- Kaplan NM. 1989. The deadly quartet. Upper-body obesity, glucose intolerance, hypertriglyceridemia, and hypertension. *Arch Intern Med.* 149(7): 1514-1520.
- Karanjawala ZE, Lieber MR. 2004. **DNA damage and aging**. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 125(6): 405-416.
- Karbownik-Lewinska M, Szosland J, Kokoszko-Bilska A, Stepniak J, Zasada K, et al. 2012. Direct contribution of obesity to oxidative damage to macromolecules. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett.* 33(4): 453-461.
- Kelly T, Yang W, Chen CS, Reynolds K, He J. 2008. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. Int J Obes (Lond). 32(9): 1431-1437.
- Khanna KK, Jackson SP. 2001. **DNA double-strand breaks: signaling, repair and the** cancer connection. *Nat Genet.* 27(3): 247-254.
- Kilinc M, Guven MA, Ezer M, Ertas IE, Coskun A. 2008. Evaluation of serum selenium levels in Turkish women with gestational diabetes mellitus, glucose intolerants, and normal controls. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 123(1-3): 35-40.
- Kirkland JL, Hollenberg CH, Gillon WS. 1990. Age, anatomic site, and the replication and differentiation of adipocyte precursors. Am J Physiol. 258(2 Pt 1): C206-210.
- Kirkland JL, Tchkonia T, Pirtskhalava T, Han J, Karagiannides I. 2002. Adipogenesis and aging: does aging make fat go MAD? *Exp Gerontol.* 37(6): 757-767.
- Kitade H, Sawamoto K, Nagashimada M, Inoue H, Yamamoto Y, et al. 2012. CCR5 plays a critical role in obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance by regulating both macrophage recruitment and M1/M2 status. *Diabetes*. 61(7): 1680-1690.

- Kliewer SA, Lenhard JM, Willson TM, Patel I, Morris DC, Lehmann JM. 1995. A prostaglandin J2 metabolite binds peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and promotes adipocyte differentiation. *Cell.* 83(5): 813-819.
- Knittle JL, Timmers K, Ginsberg-Fellner F, Brown RE, Katz DP. 1979. The growth of adipose tissue in children and adolescents. Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of adipose cell number and size. *J Clin Invest*. 63(2): 239-246.
- Kong X, Shen Y, Jiang N, Fei X, Mi J. 2011. Emerging roles of DNA-PK besides DNA repair. Cell Signal. 23(8): 1273-1280.
- Konige M, Wang H, Sztalryd C. 2013. Role of adipose specific lipid droplet proteins in maintaining whole body energy homeostasis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.007(0)
- Kovsan J, Bluher M, Tarnovscki T, Kloting N, Kirshtein B, et al. 2011. Altered autophagy in human adipose tissues in obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 96(2): E268-277.
- Kozlovsky N, Rudich A, Potashnik R, Ebina Y, Murakami T, Bashan N. 1997. Transcriptional activation of the Glut1 gene in response to oxidative stress in L6 myotubes. J Biol Chem. 272(52): 33367-33372.
- Kral JG, Otterbeck P, Touza MG. 2010. Preventing and treating the accelerated ageing of obesity. *Maturitas*. 66(3): 223-230.
- Kress AM, Hartzel MC, Peterson MR. 2005. Burden of disease associated with overweight and obesity among U.S. military retirees and their dependents, aged 38-64, 2003. *Prev Med.* 41(1): 63-69.
- Kuri-Harcuch W, Castro-Munozledo F. 1984. [Adipocyte differentiation of 3T3 cells]. *Rev Invest Clin.* 36(4): 377-388.
- Laclaustra M, Navas-Acien A, Stranges S, Ordovas JM, Guallar E. 2009. Serum selenium concentrations and diabetes in U.S. adults: National Health and Nutrition

**Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004**. Environ Health Perspect. 117(9): 1409-1413.

- Lafontan M. 2013. Adipose tissue and adipocyte dysregulation. *Diabetes Metab.* 10.1016/j.diabet.2013.08.002
- Landoure G, Mochel F, Meilleur K, Ly M, Sangare M, et al. 2013. Novel mutation in the ATM gene in a Malian family with ataxia telangiectasia. *J Neurol.* 260(1): 324-326.
- Lau DC, Dhillon B, Yan H, Szmitko PE, Verma S. 2005. Adipokines: molecular links between obesity and atheroslcerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 288(5): H2031-2041.
- Lavin MF. 2008. Ataxia-telangiectasia: from a rare disorder to a paradigm for cell signalling and cancer. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 9(10): 759-769.
- Lavin MF, Shiloh Y. 1997. The genetic defect in ataxia-telangiectasia. Annu Rev Immunol. 15: 177-202.
- Leach JK, Van Tuyle G, Lin PS, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Mikkelsen RB. 2001. Ionizing radiation-induced, mitochondria-dependent generation of reactive oxygen/nitrogen. *Cancer Res.* 61(10): 3894-3901.
- Lee BY, Han JA, Im JS, Morrone A, Johung K, et al. 2006. Senescence-associated betagalactosidase is lysosomal beta-galactosidase. *Aging Cell*. 5(2): 187-195.
- Lee H, Lee YJ, Choi H, Ko EH, Kim JW. 2009. Reactive oxygen species facilitate adipocyte differentiation by accelerating mitotic clonal expansion. *J Biol Chem.* 284(16): 10601-10609.
- Lee MJ, Pramyothin P, Karastergiou K, Fried SK. 2013. Deconstructing the roles of glucocorticoids in adipose tissue biology and the development of central obesity. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.029(0)

- Lee YH, Chen SY, Wiesner RJ, Huang YF. 2004. Simple flow cytometric method used to assess lipid accumulation in fat cells. *J Lipid Res.* 45(6): 1162-1167.
- Lee YH, Mottillo EP, Granneman JG. 2013. Adipose tissue plasticity from WAT to BAT and in between. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.011(0)
- Lees-Miller SP, Chen YR, Anderson CW. 1990. Human cells contain a DNA-activated protein kinase that phosphorylates simian virus 40 T antigen, mouse p53, and the human Ku autoantigen. *Mol Cell Biol.* 10(*12*): 6472-6481.
- Lees-Miller SP, Meek K. 2003. Repair of DNA double strand breaks by nonhomologous end joining. *Biochimie*. 85(11): 1161-1173.
- Lenzen S. 2008. Oxidative stress: the vulnerable beta-cell. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 36(*Pt* 3): 343-347.
- Lepor NE, Fouchia DD, McCullough PA. 2013. New vistas for the treatment of obesity: turning the tide against the leading cause of morbidity and cardiovascular mortality in the developed world. *Rev Cardiovasc Med.* 14(1): 20-39; quiz 40.
- Lim DS, Kirsch DG, Canman CE, Ahn JH, Ziv Y, et al. 1998. **ATM binds to beta-adaptin** in cytoplasmic vesicles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 95(17): 10146-10151.
- Lin X, Yan J, Tang D. 2013. ERK kinases modulate the activation of PI3 kinase related kinases (PIKKs) in DNA damage response. *Histol Histopathol.* 28(12): 1547-1554.
- Lisby M, Barlow JH, Burgess RC, Rothstein R. 2004. Choreography of the DNA damage response: spatiotemporal relationships among checkpoint and repair proteins. *Cell.* 118(6): 699-713.
- Liu J, DeYoung SM, Zhang M, Zhang M, Cheng A, Saltiel AR. 2005. Changes in integrin expression during adipocyte differentiation. *Cell Metab.* 2(3): 165-177.

- Londos C, Sztalryd C, Tansey JT, Kimmel AR. 2005. Role of PAT proteins in lipid metabolism. *Biochimie*. 87(1): 45-49.
- Luster AD. 1998. Chemokines--chemotactic cytokines that mediate inflammation. N Engl J Med. 338(7): 436-445.
- Malik VS, Willett WC, Hu FB. 2013. Global obesity: trends, risk factors and policy implications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 9(1): 13-27.
- Maquoi E, Munaut C, Colige A, Collen D, Lijnen HR. 2002. Modulation of adipose tissue expression of murine matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors with obesity. *Diabetes*. 51(4): 1093-1101.
- Marcason W. 2008. What is the latest research on the connection between selenium and diabetes? J Am Diet Assoc. 108(1): 188.
- Martin OA, Redon CE, Nakamura AJ, Dickey JS, Georgakilas AG, Bonner WM. 2011. Systemic DNA damage related to cancer. *Cancer Res.* 71(10): 3437-3441.
- McClung JP, Roneker C, Lei XG. 2004. Insulin resistance and obesity in mice overexpressing selenium (Se)-dependent glutathione peroxidase-1 (GPX1). Faseb Journal. 18(4): A104-A104.
- McDonald RB, Horwitz BA. 1999. Brown adipose tissue thermogenesis during aging and senescence. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 31(5): 507-516.
- McGarry JD, Dobbins RL. 1999. Fatty acids, lipotoxicity and insulin secretion. *Diabetologia*. 42(2): 128-138.
- McLaughlin T, Deng A, Yee G, Lamendola C, Reaven G, et al. 2010. Inflammation in subcutaneous adipose tissue: relationship to adipose cell size. *Diabetologia*. 53(2): 369-377.

- Meijer K, de Vries M, Al-Lahham S, Bruinenberg M, Weening D, et al. 2011. Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. *PLoS One*. 6(3): e17154.
- Meulle A, Salles B, Daviaud D, Valet P, Muller C. 2008. Positive regulation of DNA double strand break repair activity during differentiation of long life span cells: the example of adipogenesis. *PLoS One.* 3(10): e3345.
- Meyer B, Voss KO, Tobias F, Jakob B, Durante M, Taucher-Scholz G. 2013. Clustered DNA damage induces pan-nuclear H2AX phosphorylation mediated by ATM and DNA-PK. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41(12): 6109-6118.
- Meyer LK, Ciaraldi TP, Henry RR, Wittgrove AC, Phillips SA. 2013. Adipose tissue depot and cell size dependency of adiponectin synthesis and secretion in human obesity. *Adipocyte*. 2(4): 217-226.
- Miranville A, Heeschen C, Sengenes C, Curat CA, Busse R, Bouloumie A. 2004. Improvement of postnatal neovascularization by human adipose tissuederived stem cells. *Circulation*. 110(3): 349-355.
- Mlinar B, Marc J. 2011. New insights into adipose tissue dysfunction in insulin resistance. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 49(12): 1925-1935.
- Moest H, Frei AP, Bhattacharya I, Geiger M, Wollscheid B, Wolfrum C. 2013. Malfunctioning of adipocytes in obesity is linked to quantitative surfaceome changes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1831(7): 1208-1216.
- Mohamed-Ali V, Goodrick S, Rawesh A, Katz DR, Miles JM, et al. 1997. Subcutaneous adipose tissue releases interleukin-6, but not tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 82(12): 4196-4200.
- Mohamed-Ali V, Pinkney JH, Coppack SW. 1998. Adipose tissue as an endocrine and paracrine organ. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 22(12): 1145-1158.

- Molgat AS, Gagnon A, Sorisky A. 2011. Macrophage-induced preadipocyte survival depends on signaling through Akt, ERK1/2, and reactive oxygen species. *Exp Cell Res.* 317(4): 521-530.
- Møller IM, Sweetlove LJ. 2010. **ROS signalling–specificity is required**. *Trends Plant Sci.* 15(7): 370-374.
- Monickaraj F, Aravind S, Nandhini P, Prabu P, Sathishkumar C, et al. 2013. Accelerated fat cell aging links oxidative stress and insulin resistance in adipocytes. J Biosci. 38(1): 113-122.
- Monteiro R, de Castro PM, Calhau C, Azevedo I. 2006. Adipocyte size and liability to cell death. *Obes Surg.* 16(6): 804-806.
- Morrell D, Chase CL, Kupper LL, Swift M. 1986. Diabetes mellitus in ataxiatelangiectasia, Fanconi anemia, xeroderma pigmentosum, common variable immune deficiency, and severe combined immune deficiency families. *Diabetes*. 35(2): 143-147.
- Mueller AS, Mueller K, Wolf NM, Pallauf J. 2009. Selenium and diabetes: an enigma? *Free Radic Res.* 43(11): 1029-1059.
- Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. 1999. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. *JAMA*. 282(16): 1523-1529.

Nathan C, Sporn M. 1991. Cytokines in context. J Cell Biol. 113(5): 981-986.

- Navarra P, Grohmann U, Nocentini G, Tringali G, Puccetti P, et al. 1997. Hydroxyurea induces the gene expression and synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 280(1): 477-482.
- Nelson G, Wordsworth J, Wang C, Jurk D, Lawless C, et al. 2012. A senescent cell bystander effect: senescence-induced senescence. *Aging Cell*. 11(2): 345-349.

- Nioi P, Perry BK, Wang EJ, Gu YZ, Snyder RD. 2007. In vitro detection of drug-induced phospholipidosis using gene expression and fluorescent phospholipid based methodologies. *Toxicol Sci.* 99(1): 162-173.
- Nocentini G. 1996. Ribonucleotide reductase inhibitors: new strategies for cancer chemotherapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 22(2): 89-126.
- O'Driscoll M. 2012. Diseases associated with defective responses to DNA damage. *Cold* Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 4(12): a012773.
- O'Rourke RW, White AE, Metcalf MD, Winters BR, Diggs BS, et al. 2012. Systemic inflammation and insulin sensitivity in obese IFN-gamma knockout mice. *Metabolism.* 61(8): 1152-1161.
- Obst BE, Schemmel RA, Czajka-Narins D, Merkel R. 1981. Adipocyte size and number in dietary obesity resistant and susceptible rats. *Am J Physiol*. 240(1): E47-53.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. 2006. **Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004**. *JAMA*. 295(13): 1549-1555.
- Olivares-Corichi IM, Ceballos G, Medina-Santillan R, Medina-Navarro R, Guzman-Grenfell AM, Hicks JJ. 2005. Oxidation by reactive oxygen species (ROS) alters the structure of human insulin and decreases the insulin-dependent D-glucose-C14 utilization by human adipose tissue. *Front Biosci.* 10: 3127-3131.
- Paar M, Jungst C, Steiner NA, Magnes C, Sinner F, et al. 2012. **Remodeling of lipid** droplets during lipolysis and growth in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 287(14): 11164-11173.
- Paeratakul S, Lovejoy JC, Ryan DH, Bray GA. 2002. The relation of gender, race and socioeconomic status to obesity and obesity comorbidities in a sample of US adults. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 26(9): 1205-1210.

- Pang C, Gao Z, Yin J, Zhang J, Jia W, Ye J. 2008. Macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue may promote angiogenesis for adipose tissue remodeling in obesity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 295(2): E313-322.
- Pardo B, Gomez-Gonzalez B, Aguilera A. 2009. **DNA repair in mammalian cells: DNA double-strand break repair: how to fix a broken relationship**. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 66(6): 1039-1056.
- Parola M, Marra F. 2011. Adipokines and redox signaling: impact on fatty liver disease. Antioxid Redox Signal. 15(2): 461-483.
- Patil CK, Mian IS, Campisi J. 2005. The thorny path linking cellular senescence to organismal aging. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 126(10): 1040-1045.
- Phillips CM. 2013. Metabolically healthy obesity: definitions, determinants and clinical implications. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. 14(3): 219-227.
- Popkin BM, Doak CM. 1998. The obesity epidemic is a worldwide phenomenon. *Nutr Rev.* 56(4 *Pt 1*): 106-114.
- Povirk LF, Zhou RZ, Ramsden DA, Lees-Miller SP, Valerie K. 2007. Phosphorylation in the serine/threonine 2609-2647 cluster promotes but is not essential for DNAdependent protein kinase-mediated nonhomologous end joining in human whole-cell extracts. Nucleic Acids Res. 35(12): 3869-3878.
- Previs SF, McLaren DG, Wang SP, Stout SJ, Zhou H, et al. 2013. New methodologies for studying lipid synthesis and turnover: Looking backwards to enable moving forwards. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.019(0)
- Rajpathak S, Rimm E, Morris JS, Hu F. 2005. **Toenail selenium and cardiovascular** disease in men with diabetes. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 24(4): 250-256.
- Ramirez-Zacarias JL, Castro-Munozledo F, Kuri-Harcuch W. 1992. Quantitation of adipose conversion and triglycerides by staining intracytoplasmic lipids with Oil red O. *Histochemistry*. 97(6): 493-497.

- Ravussin E, Smith SR. 2002. Increased fat intake, impaired fat oxidation, and failure of fat cell proliferation result in ectopic fat storage, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 967(1): 363-378.
- Reichard P. 1988. Interactions between deoxyribonucleotide and DNA synthesis. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 57: 349-374.
- Reshef L, Olswang Y, Cassuto H, Blum B, Croniger CM, et al. 2003. Glyceroneogenesis and the triglyceride/fatty acid cycle. *J Biol Chem.* 278(33): 30413-30416.
- Reue K. 2011. A thematic review series: lipid droplet storage and metabolism: from yeast to man. J Lipid Res. 52(11): 1865-1868.
- Roche AF. 1981. The adipocyte-number hypothesis. *Child Dev.* 52(1): 31-43.
- Rocourt CR, Wu M, Chen BP, Cheng WH. 2013. The catalytic subunit of DNAdependent protein kinase is downstream of ATM and feeds forward oxidative stress in the selenium-induced senescence response. *J Nutr Biochem.* 24(5): 781-787.
- Rocourt CRB, Wu M, Chen BPC, Cheng WH. 2012. The catalytic subunit of DNAdependent protein kinase is downstream of ATM and feeds forward oxidative stress in selenium-induced senescence response. *Faseb Journal*. 26
- Rodier F, Coppe JP, Patil CK, Hoeijmakers WA, Munoz DP, et al. 2009. Persistent DNA damage signalling triggers senescence-associated inflammatory cytokine secretion. Nat Cell Biol. 11(8): 973-979.
- Rosen ED, MacDougald OA. 2006. Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 7(12): 885-896.
- Ross SE, Erickson RL, Hemati N, MacDougald OA. 1999. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 is an insulin-regulated C/EBPalpha kinase. *Mol Cell Biol.* 19(12): 8433-8441.

- Ross SE, Hemati N, Longo KA, Bennett CN, Lucas PC, et al. 2000. Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling. *Science*. 289(5481): 950-953.
- Ross WE, Block ER, Chang RY. 1979. **Paraquat-induced DNA damage in mammalian cells**. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 91(4): 1302-1308.
- Rotman G, Shiloh Y. 1999. **ATM: a mediator of multiple responses to genotoxic stress**. *Oncogene*. 18(45): 6135-6144.
- Rudich A, Kozlovsky N, Potashnik R, Bashan N. 1997. Oxidant stress reduces insulin responsiveness in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Am J Physiol.* 272(5 *Pt 1*): E935-940.
- Saillan-Barreau C, Cousin B, Andre M, Villena P, Casteilla L, Penicaud L. 2003. Human adipose cells as candidates in defense and tissue remodeling phenomena. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 309(3): 502-505.
- Schalch DS, McFarlin DE, Barlow MH. 1970. An unusual form of diabetes mellitus in ataxia telangiectasia. *N Engl J Med.* 282(25): 1396-1402.
- Scherer PE. 2006. Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. *Diabetes*. 55(6): 1537-1545.
- Schrauwen P, Hesselink MK. 2004. Oxidative capacity, lipotoxicity, and mitochondrial damage in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 53(6): 1412-1417.
- Schumacher B, Garinis GA, Hoeijmakers JH. 2008. Age to survive: DNA damage and aging. *Trends Genet*. 24(2): 77-85.
- Seidell JC. 2000. **Obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes--a worldwide epidemic**. *Br J Nutr.* 83 Suppl 1: S5-8.
- Selvarajan S, Lund LR, Takeuchi T, Craik CS, Werb Z. 2001. A plasma kallikreindependent plasminogen cascade required for adipocyte differentiation. *Nat Cell Biol.* 3(3): 267-275.

- Shao J, Zhou B, Chu B, Yen Y. 2006. **Ribonucleotide reductase inhibitors and future drug design**. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. 6(5): 409-431.
- Sheng XQ, Huang KX, Xu HB. 2004. New experimental observation on the relationship of selenium and diabetes mellitus. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 99(1-3): 241-253.
- Shiloh Y, Ziv Y. 2013. The ATM protein kinase: regulating the cellular response to genotoxic stress, and more. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 14(4): 197-210.
- Shimizu M, Torti F, Roth RA. 1986. Characterization of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptors and responsitivity of a fibroblast/adipocyte cell line before and after differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 137(1): 552-558.
- Shrivastav M, Miller CA, De Haro LP, Durant ST, Chen BP, et al. 2009. **DNA-PKcs and ATM co-regulate DNA double-strand break repair**. *DNA Repair (Amst).* 8(8): 920-929.
- Siersbaek R, Nielsen R, Mandrup S. 2010. **PPARgamma in adipocyte differentiation** and metabolism--novel insights from genome-wide studies. *FEBS Lett.* 584(15): 3242-3249.
- Siklova-Vitkova M, Klimcakova E, Polak J, Kovacova Z, Tencerova M, et al. 2012. Adipose tissue secretion and expression of adipocyte-produced and stromavascular fraction-produced adipokines vary during multiple phases of weight-reducing dietary intervention in obese women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 97(7): E1176-1181.
- Sinclair WK. 1965. Hydroxyurea: differential lethal effects on cultured mammalian cells during the cell cycle. *Science*. 150(*3704*): 1729-1731.
- Sirbu BM, Cortez D. 2013. DNA damage response: three levels of DNA repair regulation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 5(8): a012724.
- Skurk T, Alberti-Huber C, Herder C, Hauner H. 2007. Relationship between adipocyte size and adipokine expression and secretion. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* & Metabolism. 92(3): 1023-1033.
- Smith CE, Ordovas JM. 2012. Update on perilipin polymorphisms and obesity. *Nutr Rev.* 70(10): 611-621.
- Sorisky A. 1999. From preadipocyte to adipocyte: differentiation-directed signals of insulin from the cell surface to the nucleus. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* 36(1): 1-34.
- Sorisky A, Molgat AS, Gagnon A. 2013. Macrophage-induced adipose tissue dysfunction and the preadipocyte: should I stay (and differentiate) or should I go? *Adv Nutr.* 4(1): 67-75.
- Soska V, Kunert I. 2004. Selenium blood concentration is incressed in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Atherosclerosis Supplements*. 5(1): 156-156.
- Soubeyrand S, Pope L, Pakuts B, Hache RJ. 2003. Threonines 2638/2647 in DNA-PK are essential for cellular resistance to ionizing radiation. *Cancer Res.* 63(6): 1198-1201.
- Spalding KL, Arner E, Westermark PO, Bernard S, Buchholz BA, et al. 2008. **Dynamics** of fat cell turnover in humans. *Nature*. 453(7196): 783-787.
- Spiegelman BM. 1998. **PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione** receptor. *Diabetes*. 47(4): 507-514.
- Stagni V, Santini S, Baril D. 2013. Molecular Bases of Ataxia Telangiectasia: One Kinase Multiple Functions. 10.5772/54045
- Starr R, Willson TA, Viney EM, Murray LJ, Rayner JR, et al. 1997. A family of cytokineinducible inhibitors of signalling. *Nature*. 387(6636): 917-921.

- Steinberg MH, Barton F, Castro O, Pegelow CH, Ballas SK, et al. 2003. Effect of hydroxyurea on mortality and morbidity in adult sickle cell anemia: risks and benefits up to 9 years of treatment. *JAMA*. 289(*13*): 1645-1651.
- Stentz FB, Umpierrez GE, Cuervo R, Kitabchi AE. 2004. Proinflammatory cytokines, markers of cardiovascular risks, oxidative stress, and lipid peroxidation in patients with hyperglycemic crises. *Diabetes*. 53(8): 2079-2086.
- Stracker TH, Roig I, Knobel PA, Marjanovic M. 2013. The ATM signaling network in development and disease. *Front Genet.* 4: 37.
- Stranges S, Marshall JR, Natarajan R, Donahue RP, Trevisan M, et al. 2007. Effects of long-term selenium supplementation on the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 147(4): 217-223.
- Strawford A, Antelo F, Christiansen M, Hellerstein MK. 2004. Adipose tissue triglyceride turnover, de novo lipogenesis, and cell proliferation in humans measured with 2H2O. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 286(4): E577-588.
- Strissel KJ, Stancheva Z, Miyoshi H, Perfield JW, 2nd, DeFuria J, et al. 2007. Adipocyte death, adipose tissue remodeling, and obesity complications. *Diabetes*. 56(12): 2910-2918.
- Stumvoll M, Goldstein BJ, van Haeften TW. 2005. Type 2 diabetes: principles of pathogenesis and therapy. *Lancet*. 365(9467): 1333-1346.
- Suga H, Araki J, Aoi N, Kato H, Higashino T, Yoshimura K. 2009. Adipose tissue remodeling in lipedema: adipocyte death and concurrent regeneration. *J Cutan Pathol.* 36(12): 1293-1298.
- Sul HS, Smas CM, Wang D, Chen L. 1998. Regulation of fat synthesis and adipose differentiation. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol.* 60: 317-345.
- Sun K, Tordjman J, Clement K, Scherer PE. 2013. Fibrosis and adipose tissue dysfunction. *Cell Metab.* 18(4): 470-477.

- Sun S, Ji Y, Kersten S, Qi L. 2012. Mechanisms of inflammatory responses in obese adipose tissue. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 32: 261-286.
- Sun Z, Gong J, Wu L, Li P. 2013. Imaging lipid droplet fusion and growth. *Methods Cell Biol.* 116: 253-268.
- Supale S, Li N, Brun T, Maechler P. 2012. Mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic beta cells. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 23(9): 477-487.
- Tai ES, Ordovas JM. 2007. The role of perilipin in human obesity and insulin resistance. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 18(2): 152-156.
- Taleei R, Nikjoo H. 2013. The non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) pathway for the repair of DNA double-strand breaks: I. A mathematical model. *Radiat Res.* 179(5): 530-539.
- Tan M, Sheng L, Qian Y, Ge Y, Wang Y, et al. 2001. Changes of serum selenium in pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 83(3): 231-237.
- Tang QQ, Otto TC, Lane MD. 2003. Mitotic clonal expansion: a synchronous process required for adipogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100(1): 44-49.
- Tavana O, Zhu C. 2011. Too many breaks (brakes): pancreatic beta-cell senescence leads to diabetes. *Cell Cycle*. 10(15): 2471-2484.
- Tchkonia T, Morbeck DE, Von Zglinicki T, Van Deursen J, Lustgarten J, et al. 2010. Fat tissue, aging, and cellular senescence. *Aging Cell*. 9(5): 667-684.
- Tchkonia T, Pirtskhalava T, Thomou T, Cartwright MJ, Wise B, et al. 2007. Increased TNFalpha and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein homologous protein with aging predispose preadipocytes to resist adipogenesis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 293(6): E1810-1819.

- Tchoukalova YD, Votruba SB, Tchkonia T, Giorgadze N, Kirkland JL, Jensen MD. 2010. Regional differences in cellular mechanisms of adipose tissue gain with overfeeding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 107(42): 18226-18231.
- Thompson D, Wolf AM. 2001. **The medical-care cost burden of obesity**. *Obes Rev.* 2(3): 189-197.
- Toyran N, Turan B, Severcan F. 2005. The role of selenium treatment on diabetesinduced changes in rat heart at the molecular level. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 38(6): 1066-1066.
- Trayhurn P. 2001. Biology of leptin--its implications and consequences for the treatment of obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 25 Suppl 1: S26-28.
- Trayhurn P. 2013. **Hypoxia and adipose tissue function and dysfunction in obesity**. *Physiol Rev.* 93(1): 1-21.
- Trayhurn P, Beattie JH. 2001. Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. *Proc Nutr Soc.* 60(3): 329-339.
- Trayhurn P, Wood IS. 2004. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. *Br J Nutr.* 92(3): 347-355.
- Trayhurn P, Wood IS. 2005. Signalling role of adipose tissue: adipokines and inflammation in obesity. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 33(*Pt 5*): 1078-1081.
- Tu WZ, Li B, Huang B, Wang Y, Liu XD, et al. 2013. gammaH2AX foci formation in the absence of DNA damage: Mitotic H2AX phosphorylation is mediated by the DNA-PKcs/CHK2 pathway. *FEBS Lett.* 587(21): 3437-3443.
- Turan B, Saini HK, Zhang M, Prajapati D, Elimban V, Dhalla NS. 2005. Selenium improves cardiac function by attenuating the activation of NF-kappaB due to ischemia-reperfusion injury. Antioxid Redox Signal. 7(9-10): 1388-1397.

- Unger RH. 1995. Lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of obesity-dependent NIDDM. Genetic and clinical implications. *Diabetes*. 44(8): 863-870.
- van Goor H, Gerrits PO, Grond J. 1986. The application of lipid-soluble stains in plasticembedded sections. *Histochemistry*. 85(3): 251-253.
- Vignard J, Mirey G, Salles B. 2013. Ionizing-radiation induced DNA double-strand breaks: a direct and indirect lighting up. *Radiother Oncol.* 108(3): 362-369.
- Vigouroux C, Caron-Debarle M, Le Dour C, Magre J, Capeau J. 2011. Molecular mechanisms of human lipodystrophies: from adipocyte lipid droplet to oxidative stress and lipotoxicity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 43(6): 862-876.
- Vinceti M, Stranges S, Sieri S, Grioni S, Malagoli C, et al. 2009. Association Between High Selenium Intake and Subsequent Increased Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in an Italian Population. *Epidemiology*. 20(6): S47-S47.
- Walther TC, Farese RV, Jr. 2012. Lipid droplets and cellular lipid metabolism. Annu *Rev Biochem.* 81: 687-714.
- Wang G, Dietz WH. 2002. Economic burden of obesity in youths aged 6 to 17 years: 1979-1999. *Pediatrics*. 109(5): E81-81.
- Wang H, Bell M, Sreenivasan U, Hu H, Liu J, et al. 2011. Unique regulation of adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) by perilipin 5, a lipid droplet-associated protein. J Biol Chem. 286(18): 15707-15715.
- Wang P, Mariman E, Keijer J, Bouwman F, Noben JP, et al. 2004. Profiling of the secreted proteins during 3T3-L1 adipocyte differentiation leads to the identification of novel adipokines. Cell Mol Life Sci. 61(18): 2405-2417.
- Wang Y, Sullivan S, Trujillo M, Lee MJ, Schneider SH, et al. 2003. Perilipin expression in human adipose tissues: effects of severe obesity, gender, and depot. Obes Res. 11(8): 930-936.

- Waugh NR, Shyangdan D, Taylor-Phillips S, Suri G, Hall B. 2013. Screening for type 2 diabetes: a short report for the National Screening Committee. *Health Technol* Assess. 17(35): 1-90.
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr. 2003. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. 112(12): 1796-1808.
- Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. 2003. **Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue**. J Clin Invest. 112(12): 1785-1788.
- Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. 2005. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J Clin Invest. 115(5): 1111-1119.
- West M. 2009. **Dead adipocytes and metabolic dysfunction: recent progress**. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* 16(2): 178-182.
- Wiederer O, Loffler G. 1987. Hormonal regulation of the differentiation of rat adipocyte precursor cells in primary culture. *J Lipid Res.* 28(6): 649-658.
- Wilson-Fritch L, Nicoloro S, Chouinard M, Lazar MA, Chui PC, et al. 2004. Mitochondrial remodeling in adipose tissue associated with obesity and treatment with rosiglitazone. J Clin Invest. 114(9): 1281-1289.
- Wong RH, Chang I, Hudak CS, Hyun S, Kwan HY, Sul HS. 2009. A role of DNA-PK for the metabolic gene regulation in response to insulin. *Cell*. 136(6): 1056-1072.
- Wong RH, Sul HS. 2009. **DNA-PK: relaying the insulin signal to USF in lipogenesis**. *Cell Cycle*. 8(13): 1977-1978.
- Woods A, Leiper JM, Carling D. 2012. The role of ATM in response to metformin treatment and activation of AMPK (Woods comment). *Nat Genet.* 44(4): 360-361.

- Wrann S, Kaufmann MR, Wirthner R, Stiehl DP, Wenger RH. 2013. HIF mediated and DNA damage independent histone H2AX phosphorylation in chronic hypoxia. *Biol Chem.* 394(4): 519-528.
- Wright WE, Piatyszek MA, Rainey WE, Byrd W, Shay JW. 1996. Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev Genet*. 18(2): 173-179.
- Wu M, Kang MM, Schoene NW, Cheng WH. 2010. Selenium compounds activate early barriers of tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem. 285(16): 12055-12062.
- Wueest S, Rapold RA, Rytka JM, Schoenle EJ, Konrad D. 2009. **Basal lipolysis, not the degree of insulin resistance, differentiates large from small isolated adipocytes in high-fat fed mice**. *Diabetologia*. 52(3): 541-546.
- Xiong ZM, LaDana C, Wu D, Cao K. 2013. An inhibitory role of progerin in the gene induction network of adipocyte differentiation from iPS cells. *Aging (Albany NY)*. 5(4): 288-303.
- Xu C, He JH, Xu GH. 2006. [Perilipin associated with lipid droplets regulates lipolysis]. *Sheng Li Ke Xue Jin Zhan.* 37(3): 221-224.
- Xu TJ, Liu Y, Yuan B. 2011. Effect of insulin in combination with selenium on Irs/PI3K-mediated GLUT4 expression in cardiac muscle of diabetic rats. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 15(12): 1452-1460.
- Yadav S, Day JP, Mohan V, Snehalatha C, Braganza JM. 1991. Selenium and diabetes in the tropics. *Pancreas.* 6(5): 528-533.
- Yang DQ, Kastan MB. 2000. Participation of ATM in insulin signalling through phosphorylation of eIF-4E-binding protein 1. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2(12): 893-898.
- Yang J, Eliasson B, Smith U, Cushman SW, Sherman AS. 2012. The size of large adipose cells is a predictor of insulin resistance in first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. Obesity (Silver Spring). 20(5): 932-938.

Ye J. 2013. Mechanisms of insulin resistance in obesity. Front Med. 7(1): 14-24.

- Yee SW, Chen L, Giacomini KM. 2012. The role of ATM in response to metformin treatment and activation of AMPK (Yee comment). *Nat Genet*. 44(4): 359-360.
- Young CW, Hodas S. 1964. Hydroxyurea: Inhibitory Effect on DNA Metabolism. Science. 146(3648): 1172-1174.
- Zeyda M, Stulnig TM. 2007. Adipose tissue macrophages. Immunol Lett. 112(2): 61-67.
- Zhang L, Ebenezer PJ, Dasuri K, Fernandez-Kim SO, Francis J, et al. 2011. Aging is associated with hypoxia and oxidative stress in adipose tissue: implications for adipose function. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 301(4): E599-607.
- Zhang S, Yajima H, Huynh H, Zheng J, Callen E, et al. 2011. Congenital bone marrow failure in DNA-PKcs mutant mice associated with deficiencies in DNA repair. *J Cell Biol.* 193(2): 295-305.
- Zhang Y, Huang C. 2012. Targeting adipocyte apoptosis: a novel strategy for obesity therapy. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 417(1): 1-4.
- Zhao H, Traganos F, Albino AP, Darzynkiewicz Z. 2008. Oxidative stress induces cell cycle-dependent Mre11 recruitment, ATM and Chk2 activation and histone H2AX phosphorylation. *Cell Cycle*. 7(10): 1490-1495.
- Zhou BB, Elledge SJ. 2000. The DNA damage response: putting checkpoints in perspective. *Nature*. 408(6811): 433-439.
- Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, et al. 2001. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. *J Clin Invest*. 108(8): 1167-1174.
- Zhou K, Bellenguez C, Sutherland C, Hardie G, Palmer C, et al. 2012. The role of ATM in response to metformin treatment and activation of AMPK (Zhou comment). *Nat Genet.* 44(4): 361-362.

Zuk PA. 2001. Stem cell research has only just begun. Science. 293(5528): 211-212.

Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, et al. 2002. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 13(12): 4279-4295.